
 

  wincoil.gov | Page 1  

 
REVISED 
AGENDA 

 
Winnebago County Courthouse  

400 West State Street, Rockford, IL 61101 
County Board Room, 8th Floor 

 
Thursday, July 13, 2023 

6:00 p.m. 
 

1. Call to Order  ............................................................................... Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 
2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance………………………….…. Board Member Michael Thompson 
 
3. Agenda Announcements .............................................................. Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 
4. Roll Call ................................................................................................ Clerk Lori Gummow 
 
5. Awards, Presentations, Public Hearings and Public Participation 

A. Awards – None 
B. Presentation – None 
C. Public Hearings – None 
D. Public Participation – Rev. Earl Dotson, Sr., West Side Economic Development, Pro 

Mel Welch, Navy Club, Pro 
Denzil Wynter, Patrolling Neighborhoods, Pro 
 

6. Approval of Minutes .................................................................... Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
A. Approval of June 8, 2023 minutes  
B. Layover of June 22, 2023 minutes  

 
7. Consent Agenda………………………………………………….……………………….Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

A. Raffle Report   
B. Auditor’s Report 

 
8. Appointments (Per County Board rules, Board Chairman appointments require a 30-day 

layover unless there is a suspension of the rule) 
 

9. Reports of Standing Committees ………………………………………………….Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 

A. Finance Committee ....................................................... John Butitta, Committee Chairman 



wincoil.gov | Page 2  

1. Committee Report 
2. Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for a Circuit Clerk Project Manager to be Laid Over 
3. Resolution Authorizing an Increase in the Salary of the Winnebago County Public 

Defender 
4. Resolution Authorizing Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company as Winnebago 

County’s 457(B) Deferred Compensation Plan Record Keeper  
5. Ordinance for Approval of a Budget Amendment to Change the County 457(b) Plan 

Vendor to be Laid Over 
6. Resolution Authorizing Use of Winnebago County Health Department Surplus Funds to 

Pay Off the Bond on 555 N. Court Street  
7. An Ordinance Providing for the Payment of Certain Outstanding Bonds of the County 

and Authorizing and Directing the Execution of an Escrow Agreement in Connection 
Therewith to be Laid Over 

8. Ordinance for Approval of a Budget Amendment to Reimburse the General Fund for 555 
Court Street Bond Payments to be Laid Over 
 

B. Zoning Committee ........................................................ Jim Webster, Committee Chairman 
Planning and/or Zoning Requests: 

1. Committee Report 
 

C. Economic Development Committee .......................... John Sweeney, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 

 
D. Operations and Administrative Committee ............ Keith McDonald, Committee Chairman 

1. Committee Report 
2. Resolution Awarding Therapy Services at River Bluff Nursing Home 
3. Resolution to Approve New Laundry and Linen Services at River Bluff Nursing Home 
4. Resolution Awarding Printing Services Bid 
5. Resolution Authorizing the Execution of an Attornment Agreement between 

Blackhawk Bank and the County of Winnebago, Illinois for the Property located at 4505 
North Main Street, Rockford, IL 

 
E. Public Works Committee ............................................. Dave Tassoni, Committee Chairman 

1. Committee Report 
 

F. Public Safety and Judiciary Committee……………………Brad Lindmark, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 
 

10. Unfinished Business …………………………….……………………………………..Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
Appointments read in on May 11, 2023 
A. Chicago Rockford International Airport Authority, Annual Compensation: $1,800  

1. Mike Schablaske (Reappointment), Rockford, Illinois, 5-year term, May 2023 to May 
2028 

B. Pecatonica Cemetery Association, Annual Compensation: None 



wincoil.gov | Page 3  

1. Larry Holeton (Reappointment), Pecatonica, Illinois, 6-year term, June 2023 to June 
2029 

2. Gary Meyer (Reappointment), Pecatonica, Illinois, 6-year term, June 2023 to June 2029 
3. Ron Larson (Reappointment), Pecatonica, Illinois, 6-year term, June 2023 to June 2029 
4. Glen Wiegert (Reappointment), Pecatonica, Illinois, 6-year term, June 2023 to June  

2029 
5. Lori Finley (Reappointment), Pecatonica, Illinois, 6-year term, June 2023 to June 2029 
6. Steve Van Vlect (Reappointment), Pecatonica, Illinois, 6-year term, June 2023 to June  

2029 
Appointments read in on June 8, 2023 
C. Cherry Valley Cemetery Association, Annual Compensation: None  

1. Pat Stegemann (New Appointment), Cherry Valley, Illinois, 6-year term, May 2023 to 
May 2029 

D. Zoning Board of Appeals, Annual Compensation: $1,200 
1.   David Daly (New Appointment), Pecatonica, Illinois, 5-year term, May 2023 to May 2028 

 
11. New Business………………………………………………………………………………Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

(Per County Board rules, passage will require a suspension of Board rules). 
 

12. Announcements & Communications ..................................................... Clerk Lori Gummow 
A. Correspondence (see packet)   

 
13.  Adjournment …………………………………………………………………………..….Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 

Next Meeting:  Thursday, July 27, 2023 



 

  
Awards,  

Presentations,  
Public Hearings  

and Public Participation 

 
 



 

 Approval of 
Minutes 

 

























CONSENT 
AGENDA 









 

  
Appointments 

 
 



 

 
Reports of 
Standing 

Committees 
 
 
 



 

FINANCE 
COMMITTEE 



 

  

 
 
Prepared By:   Steve Schultz  

Committee:   Finance Committee 

Committee Date:    July 6, 2023 

Ordinance Title:             Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for a Circuit Clerk Project Manager 
County Code:    

Board Meeting Date:     July 27, 2023  

 

Budget Information: 
Was item budgeted?  No                                                                             Appropriation Amount:   $31,000 

If not, explain funding source:  Fund Balance 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code: 40300 / 41110 Document Storage Fee / Regular Salaries 
                                             
FY2023 Budget Impact: $31,000 

 
Background Information:  The Winnebago County Circuit Clerk would like to use existing fund 
balance in its Document Storage Fee Fund to hire a Project Manager to oversee the 
implementation of its new court and case management system. 
 
Recommendation:    Finance Department recommends approval 
        
Contract/Agreement:   Not applicable 
 
Legal Review:   Not Applicable 
 
Follow-Up:   Not Applicable 

Ordinance Executive Summary 
 



1 
 

2023 Fiscal Year Finance: July 6, 2023 
 Lay Over: July 13, 2023 
Sponsored by:  Final Vote: July 27, 2023 
John Butitta, Finance Committee Chairman   
 
 
 

  

 
2023 CO 

 
TO:  THE HONORABLE BOARD MEMBERS OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
         The Winnebago County Finance Committee presents the following Ordinance amending the 
Annual Appropriation Ordinance for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2023 and recommends 
its adoption. 
 

Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for a Circuit Clerk Project Manager 
 

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Circuit Clerk would like to use existing fund balance in 
its Document Storage Fee Fund to hire a Project Manager. This Project Manager would oversee 
the implementation of the Circuit Clerk’s new court and case management system.  
 
             WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board adopted the “Annual Budget and Appropriation 
Ordinance” for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2023 at its September 29, 2022 meeting; 
and,  
     
 WHEREAS, 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), states, “After the adoption of the county budget, no 
further appropriations shall be made at any other time during such fiscal year, except as provided 
in this Act.  Appropriations in excess of those authorized by the budget in order to meet an 
immediate emergency may be made at any meeting of the board by a two-thirds vote of all the 
members constituting such board, the vote to be taken by ayes and nays and entered on the 
record of the meeting.” 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, that the County Board deems that pursuant to 
provisions as set forth in 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), certain conditions have occurred in connection 
with the operations of the County which are deemed to be immediate emergencies; therefore, 
the increases detailed per the attached Request for Budget Amendment are hereby authorized 
for Amendment #23-034 Circuit Clerk Project Manager 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 

 
AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN  BUTITTA, CHAIR 
 

                                                      JOHN  BUTITTA, CHAIR 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIR                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIR 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN  JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY 

 

JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2023. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 
 



6/28/2023

Circuit Clerk
0103

Department Org 
Number

Object 
(Account) 
Number

Project 
Number Object (Account) Description

Adopted 
Budget

Amendments 
Previously 
Approved

Revised 
Approved 

Budget
Increase 

(Decrease)

Revised 
Budget after 

Approved 
Budget 

Amendment
Expenditures

40300 41110 Regular Salaries $0 $0 $0 $31,000 $31,000

Revenue

$31,000
Reason budget amendment is required:

$31,000

Revenue Source:
Document Storage Fee Fund Balance

AMENDMENT NO:

SUBMITTED BY:

TOTAL ADJUSTMENT:

N/A

DATE SUBMITTED:

DEPARTMENT:
FUND#:

Potential alternatives to budget amendment:

Addition of a project manager for the new court and case management system.

23-034

40300 Document Storage FeeDEPT. BUDGET NO.

Impact to Fiscal Year 2023 budget:

2023
WINNEBAGO COUNTY

FINANCE  COMMITTEE
REQUEST FOR BUDGET AMENDMENT

Tom Lawson



 
 

   
    Resolution Executive Summary 

 

  

 
 
 
Prepared By:   Steve Schultz 
Committee:   Finance Committee 
Committee Date:  July 6, 2023 
Resolution Title:   Resolution Authorizing an Increase in the Salary of the Winnebago 

County Public Defender 
County Code:         Not Applicable 
Board Meeting Date:    July 13, 2023 
 
Budget Information: 
 

Was item budgeted?    Yes              Appropriation Amount:   $177,692.80 
If not, explain funding source:  N/A 
ORG/OBJ/Project Code:         34000-41110                 Budget Impact:  None 

 
Background Information: Per IL State Statute 55 ILCS 5/3-4007, the Public Defender’s salary must 
be at least 90% of the State’s Attorney’s salary.  66 2/3% of this amount will be reimbursed by 
the State of Illinois.  In order to receive the reimbursement, the County must submit 
documentation of County Board action authorizing this new salary. 
 
Recommendation: Staff concurs  
 
Contract/Agreement: N/A 
 
Legal Review:  Legal review conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office  
 
Follow-Up: N/A 
 
 
 
 
 



County Board:  07/13/23 
 

 
R E S O L U T I O N 

of the 
COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2023 CR 
 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN INCREASE IN THE SALARY OF THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY 
PUBLIC DEFENDER 

 
 

 WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago is responsible for the salary of the Winnebago 
County Public Defender; and 
 

WHEREAS, the salary of a county public defender is established by 55 ILCS 5/3-4007 
at 90% of the compensation of the state’s attorney of the county, 66 2/3% of which is to 
be reimbursed by the State; and 

 
WHEREAS, the General Assembly has recently increased the salary of the Winnebago 

County State’s Attorney necessitating an adjustment in the salary of the Winnebago County 
Public Defender. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 

Illinois that the salary of the Winnebago County Public Defender shall be adjusted to be 90% of 
the current salary of the Winnebago County State’s Attorney retroactive to the date the change 
in the State’s Attorney’s salary became effective. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective 
immediately upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to 
prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Chief Judge of the 17th Judicial 
Circuit, the Winnebago County Public Defender and the Winnebago County Finance 
Department. 

                 
 
 
 

 
 
 



 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN  BUTITTA, CHAIR 
 

                                                       JOHN  BUTITTA, CHAIR 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIR                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIR 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

  JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                                JOE HOFFMAN 
 

 
KEITH MCDONALD  KEITH MCDONALD 

JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2023. 

 

 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 





 
 
 

 
Resolution Executive Summary 

 
    
 
Prepared By:  Purchasing Department    
Committee Name: Finance Committe   
Committee Date: July 6, 2023 
Board Date:  July 13, 2023     
Resolution Title: Resolution Authorizing Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company 
as Winnebago County’s 457(B) Deferred Compensation Plan Record Keeper  
 _________________________________________________________________ 
  
Service:  A 457(b) plan is a tax-advantaged retirement savings plan offered to employees of state 
and local governments and some nonprofit organizations. Like the better-known 401(k) plan in 
the private sector, the 457(b) plan allows employees to deposit a portion of their pre-tax 
earnings into a tax advantaged account.   
 

Background:   Beginning in late 2021, the CFO, along with HR Director, determined it was time to 
evaluate the County’s existing 457(b) Plan provider, Empower.  Originally known as Great-West, 
Empower has been the County’s 457(b) Plan Administrator since the late 1980’s.  The Empower 
Agreement has an outdated Contingent Deferred Sales Charge (CDSC) that will need to be settled 
upon terminating their agreement.  The CDSC is estimated to be less than $80,000. 
 

Selection Committee: 
A total of eight providers were considered and proposals reviewed.  Final presentations were 
done by three firms in March, 2023.  
 
Committee Members:  Dave Rickert, Molly Terrinoni, Bryan Cutler, Debbie Crozier, Ann Johns 
and additional final selection Committee members: Board Member Valerie Hanserd, Steve 
Chapman 

 

December 2021 January 18, 2023 March 3, 2023 
Total of 8 Proposals Rec'd. 4 - Revised Proposals 3 - Finalist Presenters 
1.  457 Consulting 1.  AID 1.  AIG 
2.  AIG 2.  Edward Jones 2.  MissionSquare 
3.  Edward Jones 3.  MissionSquare 3.  VOYA #1 
4.  MissionSquare 4.  VOYA #1  
5.  Nationwide (MP)   
6.  Savant   
7.  VOYA #1   
8.  VOYA #2   

Final Selection:  The Committee recommended moving forward with VOYA, based on their low 
rates & fees and the comprehensive formal presentation provided on March 3, 2023.   

Legal Review:  SAO reviewed the Empower agreement for termination and the proposed Voya 
agreement to establish them as the County’s new service provider. 



         County Board Meeting: July 13, 2023 
 

 
RESOLUTION 

OF THE 
COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
2023 CR _______ 

 
SUBMITTED BY:  FINANCE COMMITTEE  
SPONSORED BY:  JOHN BUTITTA 
 

 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING VOYA RETIREMENT INSURANCE AND 
ANNUITY COMPANY AS WINNEBAGO COUNTY’S 457(B) DEFERRED 

COMPENSATION PLAN RECORD KEEPER 
 
 WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago, Illinois, for the benefit of its eligible 
employees, has established a deferred compensation plan commonly referred to as the 
Winnebago County Deferred Compensation Plan (the “Plan”), by contracting with 
Empower Annuity Insurance Company of America f/k/a Great-West Life & Annuity 
Insurance Company (“Empower”); and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Plan is an IRS Section 457(b) deferred compensation program in 
which employees are permitted to make pre-tax, voluntary contributions for their 
retirement savings; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, the Plan must remain in compliance with all issued IRS regulations to 
continue to provide this benefit to its employees; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, County Administration is seeking to change the County’s existing 
record keeper from Empower to Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company in 
order to lower administrative costs to participants, provide more account management and 
investment offerings, and provide improved customer experience; and,   
 
 WHEREAS, Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company services and fee 
schedule offers a more comprehensive service at a reduced cost to the Plan participants; 
and, 
 
 WHEREAS, County Administration believe it is in the best interests of the 
employees and participants of the Plan to terminate the existing contract with Empower, 
pay the Contingent Deferred Sales Charge and execute a new agreement with Voya 
Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company to provide recordkeeping services for the 
Plan; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, Voya, Inc. will provide recordkeeping, third party administration and 
Custodial Services for the new 457(b) Plan to ensure compliance with all IRS regulations 
and to continue to offer a tax deferred 457(b) Plan. 
 



 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the County Board of the County 

of Winnebago, Illinois authorizes the Winnebago County Human Resources Department 
and Finance Department to coordinate the transition of Record keeper for the Winnebago 
County Deferred Compensation Plan from Empower to Voya Retirement Insurance and 
Annuity Company, and subject to legal review, execute any notices, agreements, and other 
documentation needed to reflect the transfer of employee accounts to Voya Retirement 
Insurance and Annuity Company. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and 
effect immediately upon its adoption. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby 

authorized to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the County 
Administrator, Human Resources Director, Finance Director, and the County Auditor. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
                  Respectfully Submitted, 

FINANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
AGREE  DISAGREE 

JJOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 
 

 JJOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN  JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

  JOE HOFFMAN 
 

   JOE HOFFMAN 
 

 
KEITH MCDONALD  KEITH MCDONALD 

JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2023. 

 
 
 

 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 
 
 



 

  

 
 
Prepared By:   Steve Schultz  

Committee:   Finance Committee 

Committee Date:    July 6, 2023 

Ordinance Title:             Ordinance for Approval of a Budget Amendment to Change the County 
457(b) Plan Vendor                                        
County Code:    

Board Meeting Date:     July 27, 2023  

 

Budget Information: 
Was item budgeted?  No                                                                             Appropriation Amount:   $80,000 

If not, explain funding source:  Fund Balance 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  13500 / 43190 Other Professional Services 
                                              
 
FY2023 Budget Impact: $80,000 

 
Background Information:  Beginning in late 2021, the CFO, along with HR Director, determined it 
was time to evaluate the County’s existing 457(b) Plan provider, Empower.  Originally known as 
Great-West, Empower has been the County’s 457(b) Plan Administrator since the late 1980’s.  
The Empower Agreement has an outdated Contingent Deferred Sales Charge (CDSC) that will 
need to be settled upon terminating their agreement.  The CDSC is estimated to be less than 
$80,000. The County will then go with Voya as its new Deferred Compensation Plan vendor. 
 
Recommendation:     
        
Contract/Agreement:   Not applicable 
 
Legal Review:   This has been reviewed by the SAO 
 
Follow-Up:    

Ordinance Executive Summary 
 



1 
 

2023 Fiscal Year Finance: July 6, 2023 
 Lay Over: July 13, 2023 
Sponsored by:  Final Vote: July 27, 2023 
John Butitta, Finance Committee Chairman   
 
 
 

  

 
2023 CO 

 
TO:  THE HONORABLE BOARD MEMBERS OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
         The Winnebago County Finance Committee presents the following Ordinance amending the 
Annual Appropriation Ordinance for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2023 and recommends 
its adoption. 
 

Ordinance for Approval of a Budget Amendment to Change the County 457(b) Plan Vendor 
 

WHEREAS, the CFO, along with HR Director, determined it was time to evaluate the 
County’s existing 457(b) Plan provider, Empower.  Originally known as Great-West, Empower has 
been the County’s 457(b) Plan Administrator since the late 1980’s.  The Empower Agreement has 
an outdated Contingent Deferred Sales Charge (CDSC) that will need to be settled upon 
terminating their agreement.  The CDSC is estimated to be less than $80,000.  
 
             WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board adopted the “Annual Budget and Appropriation 
Ordinance” for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2023 at its September 29, 2022 meeting; 
and,  
     
 WHEREAS, 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), states, “After the adoption of the county budget, no 
further appropriations shall be made at any other time during such fiscal year, except as provided 
in this Act.  Appropriations in excess of those authorized by the budget in order to meet an 
immediate emergency may be made at any meeting of the board by a two-thirds vote of all the 
members constituting such board, the vote to be taken by ayes and nays and entered on the 
record of the meeting.” 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, that the County Board deems that pursuant to 
provisions as set forth in 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), certain conditions have occurred in connection 
with the operations of the County which are deemed to be immediate emergencies; therefore, 
the increases detailed per the attached Request for Budget Amendment are hereby authorized 
for Amendment #23-033 County 457(b) Plan Vendor Change 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2 
 

 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 

 
AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN  BUTITTA, CHAIR 
 

                                                      JOHN  BUTITTA, CHAIR 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIR                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIR 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN  JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY 

 

JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2023. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 
 



6/29/2023

Administration
0001 General Fund

Department Org 
Number

Object 
(Account) 
Number

Project 
Number Object (Account) Description

Adopted 
Budget

Amendments 
Previously 
Approved

Revised 
Approved 

Budget
Increase 

(Decrease)

Revised 
Budget after 

Approved 
Budget 

Amendment
Expenditures

13500 43190 Other Professional Services $362,000 $0 $362,000 $80,000 $442,000

Revenue

$80,000
Reason budget amendment is required:

$80,000

Revenue Source:
Fund Balance

2023
WINNEBAGO COUNTY

FINANCE  COMMITTEE
REQUEST FOR BUDGET AMENDMENT

Steve Schultz

AMENDMENT NO:

SUBMITTED BY:

TOTAL ADJUSTMENT:

N/A

DATE SUBMITTED:

DEPARTMENT:
FUND#:

Potential alternatives to budget amendment:

Beginning in late 2021, the CFO, along with the HR Director, determined it was time to evaluate the County's existing 457(b) Plan provider, Empower.  
Originaly known as Great-West, Empower has been the County's 457(b) Plan Administrator since the late 1980's.  The Empower Agreement has an 
outdated Contingent Deferred Sales Charge (CDSC) that will need to be settled upon terminating their agreement.  The CDSC is estimated to be less than 
$80,000.  The County will then go with Voya as its new Deferred Compnsation Plan vendor. 

23-033

13500 Miscellaneous CountyDEPT. BUDGET NO.

Impact to Fiscal Year 2023 budget:



County Board Meeting: July 13, 2023 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE  
COUNTY BOARD  

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by: Finance Committee 

2023 CR 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING USE OF WINNEBAGO COUNTY HEALTH 
DEPARTMENT SURPLUS FUNDS TO  

PAY OFF THE BOND ON 555 N. COURT STREET 
 

WHEREAS, in December of 2009, the Winnebago County Board authorized the purchase of 555 
N. Court Street, Rockford, Illinois (the “Property”), for the benefit of the Winnebago County 
Health Department (“WCHD”); and 
 
WHEREAS, at that same time the County Board authorized the issuance of 2010C bonds in an 
amount not to exceed $4.5 million to cover acquisition and renovation costs related to the 
Property; and 
 
WHEREAS, in March of 2010, the County of Winnebago purchased the Property and currently 
holds fee simple title to the Property; and 
 
WHEREAS, upon acquisition of the Property by the County, the WCHD moved some of its 
operations from its facility at 401 Division Street, Rockford, Illinois, to the Property; and 
 
WHEREAS, at the time of purchase there were seven (7) tenants leasing space at the Property 
and that number has decreased to four (4) tenants, including the Winnebago County Veteran’s 
Assistance Commission; and 
 
WHEREAS, since acquisition of the Property in 2010, the WCHD has paid over $5 million in rent 
to the County to support repayment of the bonds issued for the purchase and renovation of the 
Property; and  
 
WHEREAS, the WCHD has also developed a capital improvement plan for the Property and paid 
for significant capital improvements at the Property, including the replacement and renovation 
of elevators and windows; and  
 
WHEREAS, the WCHD has now decommissioned 401 Division Street and moved all of its 
operations to the Property; and 
 



 

WHEREAS, the WCHD has expanded its services at the Property and intends to continue to 
expand its services, requiring dedicated workspaces for its operations with secured, public 
access; and 
 
WHEREAS, the original 2010C bonds have been refunded with 2020B bonds; and 
 
WHEREAS, the WCHD has effectively managed its financial resources and has sufficient surplus 
funds to pay off the 2020B bonds on the Property in the amount of $1,750,000; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 5-25016 of the Illinois Counties Code, 55 ILCS 5/5-15016, the 
Winnebago County Board of Health is authorized to acquire property and take title in its name; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Finance Committee of the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois has 
determined that it is in the best interests of the County of Winnebago and WCHD to pay off the 
bonds in exchange for the County transferring fee simple title of the Property to the Winnebago 
County Board of Health. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT AND IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, that the Winnebago County Health Department is authorized to use its 
surplus funds to pay off the 2020B bonds on 555 North Court Street, Rockford, Illinois in the 
total amount of $1,750,000, contingent upon the County of Winnebago agreeing that it will 
immediately thereafter transfer fee simple title of 555 N. Court Street, Rockford, Illinois, to the 
Winnebago County Board of Health.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately 
upon its adoption.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, upon the adoption of this Resolution, the Clerk of the County Board 
is hereby directed to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the County 
Administrator, the Chief Financial Officer and the Winnebago County Health Department Public 
Health Administrator. 
 

                                                                                                                         
            
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 
                         Respectfully Submitted, 

FINANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
AGREE  DISAGREE 

JJOHN  BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 
 

 JJOHN  BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN  JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

  JOE HOFFMAN 
 

   JOE HOFFMAN 
 

 
KEITH MCDONALD  KEITH MCDONALD 

JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2023. 

 
 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 
 



 
RESOLUTION 

OF THE  
BOARD OF HEALTH OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING USE OF SURPLUS 

FUNDS TO PAY OFF THE BOND ON 555 N. COURT STREET 
 

WHEREAS, in December of 2009, the Winnebago County Board authorized the 
purchase of 555 N. Court Street, Rockford, Illinois (the “Property”), for the benefit of the 
Winnebago County Health Department (“WCHD”); and 

 
WHEREAS, at that same time the County Board authorized the issuance of 

2010C bonds in an amount not to exceed $4.5 million to cover acquisition and renovation 
costs related to the Property; and 
 

WHEREAS, in March of 2010, the County of Winnebago purchased the Property 
and currently holds fee simple title to the Property; and  

 
WHEREAS, upon acquisition of the Property by the County, the WCHD moved 

some of its operations from its facility at 401 Division Street, Rockford, Illinois, to the 
Property; and 
 
 WHEREAS, at the time of purchase there were seven (7) tenants leasing space at 
the Property and that number has decreased to four (4) tenants, including the Winnebago 
County Veteran’s Assistance Commission; and 
 
 WHEREAS, since acquisition of the Property in 2010, the WCHD has paid over 
$5 million in rent to the County to support repayment of the bonds issued for the 
purchase and renovation of the Property; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the WCHD has also developed a capital improvement plan for the 
Property and paid for significant capital improvements at the Property, including the 
replacement and renovation of elevators and windows; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the WCHD has now decommissioned 401 Division Street and 
moved all of its operations to the Property; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the WCHD has expanded its services at the Property and intends to 
continue to expand its services, requiring dedicated workspaces for its operations with 
secured, public access; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the original 2010C bonds have been refunded with 2020B bonds; 
and  
 



 WHEREAS, the WCHD has effectively managed its financial resources and has 
sufficient surplus funds to pay off the 2020B bonds on the Property in the amount of  
$1,750,000; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 5-25016 of the Illinois Counties Code, 55 ILCS 
5/5-25016, the Winnebago County Board of Health is authorized to acquire property and 
take title in its name; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Health has determined that it is in the best interests of 
the WCHD to pay off the bonds in exchange for the County transferring fee simple title 
of the Property to the Winnebago County Board of Health. 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT AND IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, by the Board of 
Health of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, that the Winnebago County Health 
Department is hereby authorized to use its surplus funds to pay off the 2020B bonds on 
555 N. Court Street, Rockford, Illinois, in the total amount of $1,750,000, contingent 
upon the County of Winnebago agreeing that it will immediately thereafter transfer fee 
simple title of 555 N. Court Street, Rockford, Illinois, to the Winnebago County Board of 
Health. 
 
Approved this 30th, day of June, 2023. 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Robert McCreath, President 
Winnebago County Board of Health 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Luci Hoover, Interim Secretary 
Winnebago County Board of Health 



1 

2023 Fiscal Year Finance: July 6, 2023 
Lay Over: July 13, 2023 

Sponsored by:  Final Vote: July 27, 2023 
John Butitta, Finance Committee Chairman 

2023 CO 

TO:  THE HONORABLE BOARD MEMBERS OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

         The Winnebago County Finance Committee presents the following Ordinance amending the 
Annual Appropriation Ordinance for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2023 and recommends 
its adoption. 

ORDINANCE 

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Health Department Fund currently has a positive fund 
balance and has determined that it would be in the best interest of the County to apply available 
funds to defease the 2020B bond issue; and, 

          WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board adopted the “Annual Budget and Appropriation 
Ordinance” for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2023 at its September 29, 2022 meeting; 
and,  

WHEREAS, 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), states, “After the adoption of the county budget, no 
further appropriations shall be made at any other time during such fiscal year, except as provided 
in this Act.  Appropriations in excess of those authorized by the budget in order to meet an 
immediate emergency may be made at any meeting of the board by a two-thirds vote of all the 
members constituting such board, the vote to be taken by ayes and nays and entered on the 
record of the meeting.” 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, that the County Board deems that pursuant to 
provisions as set forth in 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), certain conditions have occurred in connection 
with the operations of the County which are deemed to be immediate emergencies; therefore, 
the increases detailed per the attached Request for Budget Amendment are hereby authorized 
for Amendment #23-035 Bond Defeasance. 



2 

AGREE DISAGREE 

JOHN  BUTITTA, CHAIR JOHN  BUTITTA, CHAIR 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIR JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIR 

  JEAN CROSBY JEAN CROSBY 

  JOE HOFFMAN JOE HOFFMAN 

KEITH MCDONALD KEITH MCDONALD 

JOHN F. SWEENEY JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2023. 

ATTESTED BY: 
JOSEPH CHIARELLI 

CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 



7/1/2023

Health Dept / Finance Dr. Martell / Steve Schultz

various

Department 

Org Number

Object 

(Account) 

Number

Project 

Number Object (Account) Description

Adopted 

Budget

Amendments 

Previously 

Approved

Revised 

Approved 

Budget

Increase 

(Decrease)

Revised 

Budget after 

Approved 

Budget 

Amendment
Expenditures

60100 49110 Txfr to Other Funds $0 $0 $0 $1,750,000 $1,750,000
51500 45112 Payment to Debt Escrow Agent $0 $0 $0 $1,750,000 $1,750,000

Revenue
51500 39110 Transfer from Other Funds $0 $0 $0 (1,750,000)              ($1,750,000)

$1,750,000

Reason budget amendment is required:

Revenue Source: Fund 0301 Health Department Fund Balance

AMENDMENT NO:

SUBMITTED BY:

Impact to fiscal year 2023 budget:  $1,750,000

TOTAL ADJUSTMENT:

None

DATE SUBMITTED:

DEPARTMENT:

FUND#:

Potential alternatives to budget amendment:

Currently the Health Department Fund has funds available.  The County and Health Department hves determined that it would be in 

the best interest of the County to apply available funds to defease the 2020B bond issues.  This budget amendment would reflect the 

use of the Health department funds and properly reflect the payments to the escrow agent.

2023‐035

variousDEPT. BUDGET NO.

2023

WINNEBAGO COUNTY
FINANCE  COMMITTEE

REQUEST FOR BUDGET AMENDMENT



FIN - J - Defeasance Ordinance 4886-7368-3020 v6 
2309458 

MINUTES of a regular public meeting of the County Board of 
The County of Winnebago, Illinois, held in the County Board Room 
located in the Winnebago County Courthouse, 400 West State 
Street, Rockford, Illinois, in said County at 6:00 o’clock P.M., on 
the 13th day of July, 2023. 

 * * * 

The Chairman called the meeting to order and directed the County Clerk to call the roll. 

Upon the roll being called Joseph V. Chiarelli, the Chairman, and the following County 

Board Members were physically present at said location: ________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

The following County Board Members were allowed by a majority of the members of the 

County Board in accordance with and to the extent allowed by rules adopted by the County Board 

to attend the meeting by video or audio conference: ____________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

No County Board Member was not permitted to attend the meeting by video or audio 

conference. 

The following County Board Members were absent and did not participate in the meeting 

in any manner or to any extent whatsoever: ___________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

The Chairman announced that the County Board would next consider the adoption of an 

ordinance providing for the payment of certain bonds of the County with lawfully available funds 



-2- 

on hand and authorizing and directing the execution of an escrow agreement with The Bank of 

New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., in connection therewith. 

Whereupon County Board Member ______________________ presented and the County 

Clerk read by title an ordinance as follows, a copy of which was provided to each County Board 

Member prior to said meeting and to everyone in attendance at said meeting who requested a copy: 
 



 

AN ORDINANCE providing for the payment of certain outstanding 
bonds of The County of Winnebago, Illinois, and authorizing and 
directing the execution of an Escrow Agreement in connection 
therewith. 

 * * * 

WHEREAS, The County of Winnebago, Illinois (the “County”), is a duly organized and 

existing unit of local government created and existing under the provisions of the laws of the State 

of Illinois, and is now operating under the provisions of the Counties Code of the State of Illinois, 

as amended; and 

WHEREAS, the County has issued and has outstanding General Obligation Refunding Bonds 

(Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2020B, of the County (the “Prior Bonds”); and  

WHEREAS, the County Board of the County (the “Board”) hereby finds that there are funds 

of the County on hand and lawfully available to pay all or a portion of the Prior Bonds (the 

“Available Funds”); and 

WHEREAS, the County Board hereby further finds that it is necessary and in the best 

interests of the County to apply the Available Funds, in an amount not to exceed $1,800,000, to 

the payment of all or a portion of the Prior Bonds described in the hereafter-defined Escrow 

Agreement (the “Defeased Bonds”); and 

WHEREAS, in order to properly provide for the payment of the Defeased Bonds, it will be 

necessary to transfer Available Funds to The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as 

escrow agent (the “Escrow Agent”), pursuant to the Escrow Agreement, to be invested by the 

Escrow Agent, on behalf of the County, in direct obligations of or obligations guaranteed by the 

full faith and credit of the United States of America (as herein further described and defined as the 

“Government Securities”), the principal of and interest on which will be used to pay the principal 

of and interest on the Defeased Bonds when due; and 



-2- 

WHEREAS, it is necessary that the Board authorize the form of Escrow Agreement with the 

Escrow Agent and direct the execution of the Escrow Agreement by officers of the County: 

NOW, THEREFORE, Be it Ordained by the County Board of The County of Winnebago, 

Illinois, as follows: 

 Section 1. Incorporation of Preambles.  The Board hereby finds that all of the recitals 

contained in the preambles to this Ordinance are full, true and correct and does incorporate them 

into this Ordinance by this reference. 

 Section 2. Definitions.  The words and terms used in this Ordinance shall have the 

definitions set forth for them in the form of Escrow Agreement provided herein, unless the context 

or use of same shall clearly indicate that another meaning is intended. 

 Section 3. The Funding of the Escrow.  The County Treasurer is hereby authorized and 

directed to permanently transfer the Available Funds to the Escrow Agent pursuant to the Escrow 

Agreement on the date of the Escrow Agreement (not later than December 1, 2023).  Such funds 

shall be used and are hereby appropriated to acquire the Government Securities, to fund the costs 

incurred in connection with the execution and delivery of the Escrow Agreement and to provide a 

beginning cash deposit.   

 Section 4. Form and Authorization of Agreement.  The Agreement and all the terms 

thereof, in the form provided hereby, are hereby approved, and the Chairman of the Board and 

County Clerk are hereby authorized and directed to execute the Agreement in the name of the 

County.  The Agreement shall be in substantially the following form: 
  



-3- 

ESCROW AGREEMENT 

This Escrow Agreement, dated _________, 2023, by and between The County of 

Winnebago, Illinois (the “County”), and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a 

national banking association having trust powers, organized and operating under the laws of the 

United States of America, located in Chicago, Illinois (the “Escrow Agent”), in consideration of 

the mutual promises and agreements herein set forth: 

W I T N E S S E T H: 
 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS  

The following words and terms used in this Agreement shall have the following meanings 

unless the context or use clearly indicates another or different meaning: 

 Section 1.01. “Agreement” means this Agreement between the County and the Escrow 

Agent. 

 Section 1.02. “Board” means the County Board of the County. 

 Section 1.03. “Code” means Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and all 

lawful regulations promulgated thereunder. 

 Section 1.04. “Defeased Bonds” means the outstanding bonds of the County as follows: 

$___,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2020B, 
dated July 7, 2020, being [all] [a portion] of the bonds outstanding from an issue in the 
original principal amount of $2,020,000, fully registered and without coupons, due on 
December 30 of the years and in the amounts and bearing interest at the rates per annum 
as follows: 



-4- 

YEAR OF 
MATURITY 

PRINCIPAL 
AMOUNT 

RATE OF 
INTEREST 

2023 $               5.00% 
2024  5.00% 
2025  5.00% 
2026  5.00% 
2027  5.00% 
2028  5.00% 
2029  5.00% 

 Section 1.05. “County” means The County of Winnebago, Illinois. 

 Section 1.06. “Escrow Account” means the trust account established under this Agreement 

by the deposit of the Government Securities and the beginning cash. 

 Section 1.07. “Escrow Agent and Paying Agent” means The Bank of New York Mellon 

Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association having trust powers, organized and operating 

under the laws of the United States of America, located in Chicago, Illinois, not individually but 

in the capacity for the uses and purposes hereinafter mentioned, or any successor thereto. 

 Section 1.08. “Government Securities” means the non-callable direct obligations of or 

non-callable obligations guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America as 

to principal and interest deposited hereunder as more particularly described in Exhibit A to this 

Agreement. 

 Section 1.09. “Ordinance” means the ordinance adopted on the 13th day of July, 2023, by 

the Board entitled: 

AN ORDINANCE providing for the payment of certain outstanding 
bonds of The County of Winnebago, Illinois, and authorizing and 
directing the execution of an Escrow Agreement in connection 
therewith. 

 Section 1.10. “Treasurer” means the County Treasurer of the County. 



-5- 

ARTICLE II 
 

CREATION OF ESCROW 

 Section 2.01. The County by the Ordinance has authorized the provision for payment of the 

Defeased Bonds by the deposit on demand and to purchase on behalf of the County the 

Government Securities.  Such deposit and securities will provide all moneys necessary to pay the 

principal of and interest on the Defeased Bonds when due. 

 Section 2.02. The County deposits $__________ from funds on hand and legally available 

for the purchase of the Government Securities and the funding of a beginning cash escrow deposit 

on demand in the amount of $____.  The beginning deposit and the Government Securities are 

held in an irrevocable trust fund account for the County to the benefit of the holders of the Defeased 

Bonds to pay the principal of and interest on the Defeased Bonds when due. 

 Section 2.03. The principal of and income and profit to be received from the Government 

Securities, when paid at maturity, and the cash held in accordance with Section 2.02 hereof, will 

be sufficient, at all times pending the final payment of the Defeased Bonds, to pay all interest on 

and all principal of the Defeased Bonds when due. 

 Section 2.04. The Escrow Agent and the County have each received the report of Dunbar, 

Breitweiser & Company, LLP, Bloomington, Illinois, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the 

“Verification Report”), that the principal of and income and profit to be received from the 

Government Securities, when paid at maturity, and the cash held in accordance with Section 2.02 

hereof, will be sufficient, at all times pending the final payment of the Defeased Bonds, to pay all 

interest on and all principal of the Defeased Bonds when due as evidenced by said Report. 



-6- 

ARTICLE III 
 

COVENANTS OF ESCROW AGENT 

The Escrow Agent covenants and agrees with the County as follows: 

 Section 3.01. The Escrow Agent will hold the Government Securities and all interest 

income or profit derived therefrom and all uninvested cash in an irrevocable segregated and 

separate trust fund account for the sole and exclusive benefit of the holders of the Defeased Bonds 

until final payment thereof. 

 Section 3.02. The beginning cash escrow deposit shall not be invested by the Escrow 

Agent.  [Otherwise, the Escrow Agent will reinvest all available uninvested balances (rounded to 

an even $100) in the Escrow Account on deposit from time to time, whenever said balances exceed 

$1,000, and acknowledges that the schedule of amounts available for reinvestment appears in the 

cash flow tables in the Verification Report.  Investments so made shall be in direct obligations of 

or obligations guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America or in money 

market mutual funds comprised solely of such obligations, and shall be scheduled to mature on or 

prior to the next succeeding interest payment date on the Defeased Bonds on which such proceeds 

will be needed to pay the principal of or interest on the Defeased Bonds.]  

The Escrow Agent shall hold balances not so invested in the Escrow Account on demand 

and in trust for the purposes hereof and shall secure same in accordance with applicable Illinois 

law for the securing of public funds. 

 Section 3.03. The Escrow Agent will take no action in the investment or securing of the 

proceeds of the Government Securities which would cause the Defeased Bonds to be classified as 

“arbitrage bonds” under the Code, provided, it shall be under no duty to affirmatively inquire 

whether the Government Securities as deposited are properly invested under said section; and, 

provided, further, it may rely on all specific directions in this Agreement in the investment or 

reinvestment of balances held hereunder. 



-7- 

 Section 3.04. The Escrow Agent will promptly collect the principal, interest or profit from 

the Government Securities and promptly apply the same as necessary to the payment of principal 

and interest on the Defeased Bonds when due. 

 Section 3.05. The Escrow Agent will remit to the Paying Agent, in good funds on or before 

each principal or interest payment on the Defeased Bonds, moneys sufficient to pay such principal 

and interest as will meet the requirements for the retirement of the Defeased Bonds, and such 

remittances shall fully release and discharge the Escrow Agent from any further duty or obligation 

thereto under this Agreement. 

 Section 3.06. The Escrow Agent will make no payment of fees, charges or expenses due or 

to become due, of the Paying Agent or the bond registrar and paying agent on the Defeased Bonds, 

and the County either paid such fees, charges and expenses in advance as set forth in Section 3.07 

hereof or covenants to pay the same as they become due. 

 Section 3.07. The charges, fees and expenses of the Escrow Agent have been paid in 

advance, and all charges, fees or expenses of the Escrow Agent in carrying out any of the duties, 

terms or provisions of this Agreement shall be paid solely therefrom. 

 Section 3.08. The Escrow Agent has all the powers and duties herein set forth with no 

liability in connection with any act or omission to act hereunder, except for its own negligence or 

willful breach of trust, and shall be under no obligation to institute any suit or action or other 

proceeding under this Agreement or to enter any appearance in any suit, action or proceeding in 

which it may be defendant or to take any steps in the enforcement of its, or any, rights and powers 

hereunder, nor shall be deemed to have failed to take any such action, unless and until it shall have 

been indemnified by the County to its satisfaction against any and all costs and expenses, outlays, 

counsel fees and other disbursements, including its own reasonable fees, and if any judgment, 



-8- 

decree or recovery be obtained by the Escrow Agent, payment of all sums due it, as aforesaid, shall 

be a first charge against the amount of any such judgment, decree or recovery. 

 Section 3.09. The Escrow Agent may in good faith buy, sell or hold and deal in any of the 

Defeased Bonds. 

 Section 3.10. The Escrow Agent will submit to the Treasurer a statement within forty-five 

(45) days after July 1 and January 1 of each calendar year, commencing January 1, 2024, itemizing 

all moneys received by it and all payments made by it under the provisions of this Agreement 

during the preceding six (6) month period (or, for the first period, from the date hereof to 

December 30, 2023), and also listing the Government Securities on deposit therewith on the date 

of said report, including all moneys held by it received as interest on or profit from the collection 

of the Government Securities. 

 Section 3.11. If at any time it shall appear to the Escrow Agent that the available proceeds 

of the Government Securities and deposits on demand in the Escrow Account will not be sufficient 

to make any payment due to the holders of any of the Defeased Bonds, the Escrow Agent shall 

notify the Treasurer and the Board, not less than five (5) days prior to such date, and the County 

agrees that it will from any funds legally available for such purpose make up the anticipated deficit 

so that no default in the making of any such payment will occur. 

ARTICLE IV 
 

COVENANTS OF COUNTY 

The County covenants and agrees with the Escrow Agent as follows: 

 Section 4.01. The Escrow Agent shall have no responsibility or liability whatsoever for 

(a) any of the recitals of the County herein, (b) the performance of or compliance with any 

covenant, condition, term or provision of the Ordinance, and (c) any undertaking or statement of 

the County hereunder or under the Ordinance. 



-9- 

 Section 4.02. All payments to be made by, and all acts and duties required to be done by, 

the Escrow Agent under the terms and provisions of this Agreement, shall be made and done by 

the Escrow Agent without any further direction or authority of the County or the Treasurer. 

ARTICLE V 
 

AMENDMENTS, REINVESTMENT OF 
FUNDS, IRREVOCABILITY OF AGREEMENT 

 Section 5.01. Except as provided in Section 5.04 hereof, all of the rights, powers, duties 

and obligations of the Escrow Agent hereunder shall be irrevocable and shall not be subject to 

amendment by the Escrow Agent and shall be binding on any successor to the Escrow Agent during 

the term of this Agreement. 

 Section 5.02. Except as provided in Section 5.04 hereof, all of the rights, powers, duties 

and obligations of the County hereunder shall be irrevocable and shall not be subject to amendment 

by the County and shall be binding on any successor to the officials now comprising the Board 

during the term of this Agreement. 

 Section 5.03. Except as provided in Section 5.04 hereof, all of the rights, powers, duties 

and obligations of the Treasurer hereunder shall be irrevocable and shall not be subject to 

amendment by the Treasurer and shall be binding on any successor to said official now in office 

during the term of this Agreement. 

 Section 5.04. This Agreement may be amended or supplemented, and the Government 

Securities or any portion thereof may be sold, redeemed, invested or reinvested, in any manner 

provided (any such amendment, supplement, or direction to sell, redeem, invest or reinvest to be 

referred to as a “Subsequent Action”), upon submission to the Escrow Agent of each of the 

following: 



-10- 

 (1) Certified copy of proceedings of the Board authorizing the Subsequent Action 

and copy of the document effecting the Subsequent Action signed by duly designated 

officers of the County. 

 (2) An opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel or tax counsel nationally 

recognized as having an expertise in the area of tax-exempt municipal bonds that the 

Subsequent Action has been duly authorized by the Board and will not adversely affect the 

tax-exempt status of the interest on the Defeased Bonds nor violate the covenants of the 

County not to cause the Defeased Bonds to become “arbitrage bonds” under the Code, and 

that the Subsequent Action does not materially adversely affect the legal rights of the 

holders of the Defeased Bonds. 

 (3) An opinion of a firm of nationally recognized independent certified public 

accountants that the amounts (which will consist of cash or deposits on demand held in 

trust or receipts from non-callable direct obligations of or non-callable obligations 

guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America, all of which shall 

be held hereunder) available or to be available for payment of the Defeased Bonds will 

remain sufficient to pay when due all principal and interest on the Defeased Bonds after 

the taking of the Subsequent Action. 

ARTICLE VI 
 

MERGER, CONSOLIDATION OR RESIGNATION OF ESCROW AGENT 

Any banking association or corporation into which the Escrow Agent may be merged, 

converted or with which the Escrow Agent may be consolidated, or any corporation resulting from 

any merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Escrow Agent shall be a party, or any 

banking association or corporation to which all or substantially all of the corporate trust business 

of the Escrow Agent shall be transferred, shall succeed to all the Escrow Agent’s rights, obligations 



-11- 

and immunities hereunder without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the 

part of any of the parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding.  The Escrow 

Agent may at any time resign as Escrow Agent under this Agreement by giving 30 days’ written 

notice to the County, and such resignation shall take effect upon the appointment of a successor 

Escrow Agent by the County.  The County may select as successor Escrow Agent any financial 

institution with capital, surplus and undivided profits of at least $75,000,000 and having a 

corporate trust office within the State of Illinois, and which is authorized to maintain trust accounts 

for municipal corporations in Illinois under applicable law. 

ARTICLE VII 
 

NOTICES TO THE COUNTY, 
THE TREASURER AND THE ESCROW AGENT 

 Section 7.01. All notices and communications to the County and the Board shall be 

addressed in writing to:  County Board, The County of Winnebago, Administration Building, 

404 Elm Street, Rockford, Illinois  61101. 

 Section 7.02. All notices and communications to the Treasurer shall be addressed in writing 

to:  County Treasurer, The County of Winnebago, Administration Building, 404 Elm Street, 

Rockford, Illinois  61101. 

 Section 7.03. All notices and communications to the Escrow Agent shall be addressed in 

writing to:  Corporate Trust Department, The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., 

2 North LaSalle Street, Suite 700, Chicago, Illinois 60602. 



-12- 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

 Section 8.01. That, upon final disbursement of funds sufficient to pay the principal and 

interest of the Defeased Bonds as hereinabove provided for, the Escrow Agent will transfer any 

balance remaining in the Escrow Account to the Treasurer with due notice thereof mailed to the 

Board, and thereupon this Agreement shall terminate. 



-13- 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The County of Winnebago, Illinois, has caused this Agreement to 

be signed in its name by the Chairman of the Board and to be attested by the County Clerk of the 

County; and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A, Chicago, Illinois, not 

individually, but in the capacity as hereinabove described, has caused this Agreement to be signed 

in its corporate name by one of its officers and attested by one of its officers under its corporate 

seal hereunto affixed, all as of the ___ day of ___________, 2023. 
 

THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

By  ____________________________________ 
Chairman, County Board 

Attest: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
 County Clerk 
 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST 
COMPANY, N.A, Chicago, Illinois 

By  ____________________________________ 
  Its __________________________________ 

Attest: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Its_______________________________ 
 
[BANK SEAL] 

This Escrow Agreement received and acknowledged by me this ____ day of _________, 

2023. 

  ____________________________________ 
County Treasurer 

  



-14- 

EXHIBIT A 
 

GOVERNMENT SECURITIES 
  



-15- 

EXHIBIT B 
 

VERIFICATION REPORT 
  



-16- 

 Section 5. Purchase of the Government Securities.  The Escrow Agent and Speer 

Financial, Inc., are each hereby authorized to act as agent for the County in the purchase of the 

Government Securities described and set forth in the Escrow Agreement. 

 Section 6. Certificate of Reduction of Taxes.  The Chairman of the County Board and 

the County Treasurer are hereby directed to prepare and file with the County Clerk a Certificate of 

Reduction of Taxes Heretofore Levied for the Payment of Bonds showing the Prior Bonds being 

paid and directing the abatement of taxes heretofore levied to pay the Defeased Bonds. 

 Section 7. Severability.  If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Ordinance 

shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or unenforceability of 

such section, paragraph, clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this 

Ordinance. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
  



-17- 

 Section 8. Repealer and Effective Date.  All ordinances, resolutions or parts thereof in 

conflict herewith be and the same are hereby repealed and that this Ordinance shall be in full force 

and effect forthwith upon its adoption. 

ADOPTED by the County Board of The County of Winnebago, Illinois, this 13th day of July, 

2023. 

_______________________________________ 
Chairman of the County Board of 
The County of Winnebago, Illinois 

ATTEST: 

____________________________________ 
County Clerk and ex-officio 
Clerk of the County Board of 
The County of Winnebago, Illinois 

 



 

 

Member _______________________ moved and Member _______________________ 

seconded the motion that said ordinance as presented and read by title be adopted. 

After a full and complete discussion thereof, the Chairman directed that the County Clerk 

call the roll for a vote upon the motion to adopt said ordinance. 

Upon the roll being called, the following members voted AYE:______________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

The following members voted NAY: ___________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Whereupon the Chairman declared the motion carried and said ordinance adopted, and in 

open meeting approved and signed said ordinance and directed the County Clerk to record the 

same in full in the records of the County Board of The County of Winnebago, Illinois, which was 

done. 

Other business not pertinent to the adoption of said ordinance was duly transacted at said 

meeting. 

Upon motion duly made, seconded and carried, the meeting was adjourned. 

_______________________________________ 
County Clerk 

 



 

 

STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
 )  SS 
COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO ) 

CERTIFICATION OF MINUTES AND ORDINANCE 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting County Clerk 
of The County of Winnebago, Illinois (the “County”), and as such official I am the keeper of the 
records and files of the County Board of the County (the “Board”). 

I do further certify that the foregoing constitutes a full, true and complete transcript of the 
minutes of the meeting of the Board held on the 13th day of July, 2023, insofar as same relates to 
the adoption of an ordinance entitled: 

AN ORDINANCE providing for the payment of certain outstanding 
bonds of The County of Winnebago, Illinois, and authorizing and 
directing the execution of an Escrow Agreement in connection 
therewith. 

a true, correct and complete copy of which said ordinance as adopted at said meeting appears in 
the foregoing transcript of the minutes of said meeting. 

I do further certify that the deliberations of the Board on the adoption of said ordinance 
were conducted openly, that the vote on the adoption of said ordinance was taken openly, that said 
meeting was held at a specified time and place convenient to the public, that notice of said meeting 
was duly given to all of the news media requesting such notice, that an agenda for said meeting 
was posted at the location where said meeting was held and at the principal office of the Board at 
least 48 hours in advance of the holding of said meeting, that a true, correct and complete copy of 
said agenda as so posted is attached hereto as Exhibit A, that at least one copy of said agenda was 
continuously available for public review during the entire 48-hour period preceding said meeting, 
that said meeting was called and held in strict compliance with the provisions of the Open Meetings 
Act of the State of Illinois, as amended, and with the provisions of the Counties Code of the State 
of Illinois, as amended, and that the Board has complied with all of the provisions of said Act and 
said Code and with all of the procedural rules of the Board in the conduct of said meeting and in 
the adoption of said ordinance. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto affix my official signature and the seal of the County, 
this 13th day of July, 2023. 

_______________________________________ 
County Clerk 

[SEAL] 



 

  

 
 
Prepared By:   Steve Schultz 

Committee:   Finance Committee 

Committee Date:    July 6, 2023 

Ordinance Title:              Ordinance for Approval of a Budget Amendment to Reimburse the General Fund 
for 555 Court Street Bond Payments 
County Code:    

Board Meeting Date:     July 27, 2023  

Budget Information: 
Was item budgeted?  No                                                                       Appropriation Amount:   $1,474,430 

If not, explain funding source:  555 N. Court St. Fund  

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  78000 / 49110 Transfers to Other Funds 
                                            13500 / 39110 Transfers from Other Funds                                             
FY2023 Budget Impact: $0 

 
Background Information:  The County issued bonds to finance the purchase of the building at 555 N 
Court St.  Rents collected were to be the first source of funding for the debt service payments.  
Beginning in FY2018, funds were not available and General Fund sales tax amounts were used to fund 
the debt service and continued through FY2023.  At the end of FY2022, the 555 N Court St fund had a 
fund balance of $4,030,125.  We are proposing that this fund reimburse the General Fund for debt 
service payments. 
 
Recommendation:     
        
Contract/Agreement:   Not applicable 
 
Legal Review:   Not applicable 
 
Follow-Up:    

Ordinance Executive Summary 
 



1 
 

2023 Fiscal Year Finance: July 6, 2023 
 Lay Over: July 13, 2023 
Sponsored by:  Final Vote: July 27,2023 
John Butitta, Finance Committee Chairman   
 
 
 

  

 
2023 CO 

 
TO:  THE HONORABLE BOARD MEMBERS OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
         The Winnebago County Finance Committee presents the following Ordinance amending the 
Annual Appropriation Ordinance for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2023 and recommends 
its adoption. 
 

Ordinance for Approval of a Budget Amendment to Reimburse the General Fund for 555 
Court Street Bond Payments 

 
WHEREAS, The County issued bonds to finance the purchase of the building at 555 N 

Court Street.  Rents collected were to be the first source of funding for the debt service payments.  
Beginning in FY2018, funds were not available and General Fund sales tax amounts were used to 
fund the debt service and continued through FY2023.  At the end of FY2022, the 555 N Court St 
fund had a fund balance of $4,030,125.  We are proposing that this fund reimburse the General 
Fund for debt service payments. 
 
             WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board adopted the “Annual Budget and Appropriation 
Ordinance” for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2023 at its September 29, 2022 meeting; 
and,  
     
 WHEREAS, 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), states, “After the adoption of the county budget, no 
further appropriations shall be made at any other time during such fiscal year, except as provided 
in this Act.  Appropriations in excess of those authorized by the budget in order to meet an 
immediate emergency may be made at any meeting of the board by a two-thirds vote of all the 
members constituting such board, the vote to be taken by ayes and nays and entered on the 
record of the meeting.” 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, that the County Board deems that pursuant to 
provisions as set forth in 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), certain conditions have occurred in connection 
with the operations of the County which are deemed to be immediate emergencies; therefore, 
the increases detailed per the attached Request for Budget Amendment are hereby authorized 
for Amendment #23-032 555 N. Court Fund Transfer to General Fund  

 
 
 
 
 
 



2 
 

 
 
 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 

 
AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN  BUTITTA, CHAIR 
 

                                                      JOHN  BUTITTA, CHAIR 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIR                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIR 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN  JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY 

 

JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2023. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



6/27/2023

555 N Court
0420 555 N Court

Department Org 
Number

Object 
(Account) 
Number

Project 
Number Object (Account) Description

Adopted 
Budget

Amendments 
Previously 
Approved

Revised 
Approved 

Budget
Increase 

(Decrease)

Revised 
Budget after 

Approved 
Budget 

Amendment
Expenditures

78000 49110 Txfr to Other Funds $0 $0 $0 $1,474,430 $1,474,430

Revenue
13500 39110 Txfr from Other Funds $0 ($1,115,260) ($1,115,260) ($1,474,430) ($2,589,690)

$0
Reason budget amendment is required:

$0

Revenue Source:
Funds available in 0420

2023
WINNEBAGO COUNTY

FINANCE  COMMITTEE
REQUEST FOR BUDGET AMENDMENT

Steve Schultz

AMENDMENT NO:

SUBMITTED BY:

TOTAL ADJUSTMENT:

N/A

DATE SUBMITTED:

DEPARTMENT:
FUND#:

Potential alternatives to budget amendment:

The County issued bonds to finance the purchase of the building at 555 N Court St.  Rents collected were to be the first source of funding for the debt 
service payments.  Beginning in FY2018, funds were not available and General Fund sales tax amounts were used to fund the debt service and continued 
through FY2023.  At the end of FY2022, the 555 N Court St fund had a fund balance of $4,030,125.  We are proposing that this fund reimburse the 
General Fund for debt service payments.

23-032

78000 555 N Court FundDEPT. BUDGET NO.

Impact to Fiscal Year 2023 budget:



 

OPERATIONS & 
ADMINISTRATIVE 

 COMMITTEE 



 
 

   
    Resolution Executive Summary 

 

  

Prepared By:   Purchasing Department for River Bluff Nursing Home 

Committee:   Operations and Administrative Committee 

Committee Date:    July 6, 2023 

Board Meeting Date:     July 13, 2023  

Resolution Title:             Resolution Awarding Therapy Services at River Bluff Nursing Home 
 

Was item budgeted?  Yes                                            Appropriation Amount:   N/A 

If not, explain funding source:   

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  72533-43120                              Descriptor: River Bluff Nursing Home 
                                              72534-43120                                                   Consulting Services 
                                              72535-43120  

 

Background Information:  In 2017, the County issued Request for Proposal 17P-2116 for Therapy Services 
for the residents of River Bluff Nursing Home.  A total of three proposals were received, with Genesis 
Rehabilitation being awarded the contract.  Due to the pandemic, when the contract expired, River Bluff 
went month to month with Genesis.   
 

In February of 2023, the Purchasing Department issued Request for Proposal 23P-2237 for Therapy 
Services.  The solicitation was advertised nationwide on DemandStar and seven proposals were received 
from around the country.   See Resolution Exhibit A, Proposal Tab for more information. 
 

Select Rehabilitation was selected because of their most advantageous Proposal including:   
 

• The quality metrics, regarding outcomes and improvements for residents, were excellent.   

 

• They had a very low turnover rate and they maintained staffing and services throughout COVID. 
 

• They provide additional services, such as writing orders and getting consents for treatments. 
 

• They have a local base of operations already established in the area. 
 

• They offer an automated fall-risk assessment tool called VSTBalance, which has been studied 
and has reduced falls in facilities, and when implemented, will be great for safety and cost 
savings associated to falls. 
 

• Their software is integrated with PCC, River Bluff’s current software. 

Recommendation:  At their June 20 meeting, the RBNH Board of Directors discussed the RFP and award 
consideration and recommends awarding the Therapy Services Agreement to Select Rehabilitation, LLC.     
        
Legal Review:  State’s Attorney’s Office has reviewed, revised and approved the final Agreement, 
Resolution Exhibit B. 
 
 

                                                 Follow-Up:   Purchasing Department will route the new vendor Agreement for signatures and terminate 
the current vendor’s contract agreement. 



County Board Meeting:  July 13, 2023 
 

 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Keith McDonald, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:   Operations and Administrative Committee 
   

2023 CR 
 

RESOLUTION AWARDING THERAPY SERVICES AT RIVER BLUFF NURSING HOME 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances for the County of Winnebago, Illinois, provides as in 
Section 2-357 (b) (1), Conditions for use.  All procurements whose value equals or exceeds the 
competitive bidding threshold of $25,000.00 shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding in 
accordance with this section except as otherwise provided in 2-357(c) (Request for Proposals), 2-
357(d) (Professional Services), 2-357(e) (Sole-Source), 2-357(f) (Emergency Procurements), 2-357 
(g) (Cooperative Joint Purchasing) or as provided by State statute; and, 

 
         WHEREAS, County of Winnebago owned River Bluff Nursing Home is in need of a 
new contract for therapy services for its residents; and, 

 
         WHEREAS, in February of 2023, the County Purchasing Department solicited 
Request for Proposals for 23P-2237 Therapy Services and received seven vendor 
proposals from qualified professional vendors; and, 

 
           WHEREAS, the Operations and Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed the Proposal Tab, Resolution Exhibit A, for the 
aforementioned project and recommends awarding the contract as follows:  

 

                                         SELECT REHABILITATION, LLC. 
            2600 COMPASS ROAD 

          GLENVIEW, ILLINOIS 60026    
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois that the River Bluff Nursing Home Administrator is authorized to execute an agreement, 
similar in language to Resolution Exhibit B, on behalf of the County of Winnebago, with SELECT 
REHABILITATION, LLC., 2600 COMPASS ROAD, GLENVIEW, ILLINOIS, 60026. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective 
immediately upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to prepare 
and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the River Bluff Nursing Home Administrator, 
Director of Purchasing, Board Office, Finance Director and County Auditor. 



             Respectfully Submitted, 
                        OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 
 

                            VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 

PAUL ARENA 
 
 

                                                                             PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

                                                                         JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                          JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

JAIME SALGADO       JAIME SALGADO 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2023. 

 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIR OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL TAB 
THERAPY SERVICES FOR RBNH 

RFP #23P-2267 – MARCH 22, 2023 – 3:00 PM 

Winnebago County Purchasing Department 
404 Elm St, Rm 202, Rockford, IL 61101 | www.wincoil.gov 

Phone: (815) 319- 4380 | Email: purchasing@purchasing.wincoil.gov 

VEND
 
ORS

Powerback Rehabilitation, LLC. Select Rehabilitation, LLC.  Consonus Rehab 

Infinity Rehab  HealthPro Heritage, LLC.  Functional Pathways 

Hope Clinical Care 

     RESOLUTION EXHIBIT A

http://www.wincoil.gov/
mailto:purchasing@purchasing.wincoil.gov


County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

Therapy Services Agreement 

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into by and between SELECT REHABILITATION, LLC a 

Delaware corporation (hereinafter referred to as “SELECT REHABILITATION”) and County of 

Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home, a skilled nursing facility located at 4401 North Main Street, 

Rockford, IL 61103, hereinafter referred to as the “Facility”) (collectively referred to as the “Parties”). 

WHEREAS, Select Rehabilitation is in the business of providing rehabilitation therapy services in health 

care facilities; and 

WHEREAS, the Facility has limited experience, expertise or personnel for the operation of a 

comprehensive interdisciplinary rehabilitation program and desires to engage an outside entity to provide 

therapy services to patients at the Facility; and 

WHEREAS, Select Rehabilitation desires to provide rehabilitation therapy services to patients of the 

Facility. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants contained herein, the Parties 

hereto agree as follows: 

1.  Duties and Obligations of Select Rehabilitation. 

a) Select Rehabilitation shall make available to the Facility on an as needed basis the 

professional services of fully credentialed therapists in the areas of physical therapy, 

occupational therapy, and speech language pathology services to perform therapy 

services under the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  The hours of service will be 

normal business hours six (6) days a week. 6th day will be serviced as clinically 

appropriate for patient care. 

b) Select Rehabilitation shall provide the Facility evidence of each therapist’s qualifications, 

including licensure certifications and registrations where applicable. Select Rehabilitation 

will complete criminal background/fingerprint checks for employees which will be made 

available to Facility upon request. 

c) All services provided by Select Rehabilitation will be in accordance with professional 

standards and applicable governmental, accrediting or third-party reimbursement 

standards.  If, in Facility’s reasonable judgment, any Select Rehabilitation therapist or 

other personnel has failed to adequately perform their material job responsibilities or has 

failed to act in accordance with applicable standards of professional or ethical conduct, 

Facility shall notify Select Rehabilitation in writing. Select Rehabilitation shall 

investigate such claim and notify Facility of the result of its investigation within a 

reasonable time.  If, in the Facility’s reasonable judgment, the performance of the 

identified individual remains unsatisfactory, Facility shall notify Select Rehabilitation 

and that individual will be removed from providing services at the Facility. 

d) Select Rehabilitation shall conduct therapy evaluations upon receipt of a written order 

from a Facility resident’s physician.  The evaluations shall include a recommended plan 

of care, including duration and frequency of treatment, and shall be completed and 

submitted to the physician for review and certification within 48 hours of receipt of a 

written order.  Select Rehabilitation shall reply on written orders received from a Facility 

resident’s physician to indicate medical necessity of therapy services. 

RESOLUTION EXHIBIT B



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

 

e) Upon receipt of a written order for therapy treatment from a Facility resident’s physician, 

Select Rehabilitation shall provide treatment in a timely manner, in accordance with the 

physician’s plan of care.   

 

f) Select Rehabilitation shall update the medical record of a Facility resident, including but 

not limited to evaluation and progress notes, treatment logs, care plan additions and 

updates, and any other relevant and required information, within 24 hours of providing 

therapy services to the resident.       

 

g) Select Rehabilitation shall communicate verbally and in writing with a Facility resident’s 

physician and other health care professionals involved in the resident’s care, as 

appropriate, observations as to progress and expected goals and treatment. 

 

h) Select Rehabilitation shall provide Facility with accurate treatment and Assessment 

Reference Date (ARD) information necessary to complete the Minimum Data Set (MDS), 

including information necessary to complete MDS section GG, within a reasonable time 

period to be set by Facility.   

 

i) Selection Rehabilitation shall provide timely and periodic screenings per quarterly MDS 

schedule or as needed to all residents of Facility and address any declines per the MDS or 

other relevant documentation as it pertains to rehabilitation. 

 

j) Upon request of Facility, Select Rehabilitation shall provide appropriate consultation to 

Facility staff and in-service education on therapy topics related to treatment of Facility 

residents. 

 

k) Select Rehabilitation shall provide mutually acceptable staffing levels to meet the 

Facility’s rehabilitation requirements and shall ensure that its staffing is able and flexible 

to meet the demands of a variable rehabilitation census. 

 

l) Select Rehabilitation shall participate in Facility utilization reviews which will monitor 

length of stays, appropriateness of rehabilitation services, and discharge planning in 

accordance with Prospective Payment System (PPS)/Medicare and third-party payer 

requirements.  Select Rehabilitation shall manage Medicare Resource Utilization Groups 

IV (RUGs)/PPS, Patient Driven Payment Model (PDPM), as it pertains to rehabilitation 

services in an appropriate and timely manner. 

 

m) Select Rehabilitation shall provide quality “client-centered” resident care with a focus on 

customer service and participate in service recovery issues, as appropriate. 

 

n) Select Rehabilitation shall develop and participate in “client-centered” programs, such as 

Falls Management, Wound Care, Seating/Positioning, Restorative Dining, etc., as needed. 

 

o) Select Rehabilitation shall promote utilization of Nursing Restorative Services and 

Physical Rehabilitation Services in accordance with the RUGs/PPS, PDPM or Medicare 

Part B/third-party payer regulations, which shall be provided according to the plan of care 

determined by the Facility resident’s physician. 

 

p) Select Rehabilitation shall participate in interdisciplinary patient care conferences for the 

Medicare certified unit and the long-term care units, as appropriate. 

 

q) Select Rehabilitation shall conduct quarterly quality assurance audits to ensure that 

rehabilitation procedures and processes are in compliance with federal and state 

regulations and Facility policies and procedures.  Audits may include, but not be limited 

to, documentation, timeliness of evaluations, progress notes and discharge summaries, 



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

and other performance improvement activities.  Such audit records shall remain the 

property of Select Rehabilitation, but shall be made available to Facility for review and 

copying upon request. 

 

r) Select Rehabilitation shall have in place a corporate compliance policy that meets federal 

and state regulations.  

 

 

2. Obligations of the Facility 

 

a) The Facility shall set aside for the exclusive use of Select Rehabilitation adequate work 

and storage areas for the provision of the therapy services and shall provide therapy 

related equipment and supplies needed to provide the services contemplated by this 

Agreement.  Access to a working telephone and a copy machine shall be provided by the 

Facility for use by Select Rehabilitation for the sole purpose of providing services to the 

Facility hereunder.  The maintenance of, and the provision of utilities to, the designated 

area shall be the sole responsibility of the Facility.  The Facility shall designate its 

Administrator to serve as a Liaison with Select Rehabilitation. 

 

b) The Facility shall complete and submit the Minimum Data Set in accordance with the 

standards and timelines set forth in the Federal Register.  The Facility shall use its best 

efforts to market its rehabilitation program and maintain a patient base to support a full 

time discharge oriented rehabilitation program and adequate patient case mix. 

 

c) The Facility shall maintain full administrative and professional responsibility for the 

treatment and care of the residents receiving therapy services. 

 

d) The Facility shall be responsible for obtaining and maintaining in the Facility’s medical 

record written and signed copies of attending physician’s orders for each resident who 

requires therapy services within 24 hours of request for all residents identified as 

requiring therapy services. 

 

e) The Facility agrees that, during the term of this Agreement, the Facility will not contract 

with any other party to provide physical therapy, occupational therapy, or speech 

language pathology services within the Facility. 

 

3. Records 

 

a) Select Rehabilitation shall document the services rendered by Select Rehabilitation to 

patients at the Facility, as may be reasonably required by the Facility, and consistent with 

the rules for documenting services of federal or state governmental payers, or third-party 

payers.  Select Rehabilitation shall submit to Facility accurate billing information for 

Medicare and third-party payers immediately following the month of service or as 

mutually agreed upon by the Parties.  Select Rehabilitation shall provide all 

documentation for billings to Medicare or third-party payers to Facility in a mutually 

agreed format. 

 

b) Select Rehabilitation and the Facility shall maintain the confidentiality of patient records, 

Select Rehabilitation records and Facility records in accordance with applicable law and 

industry standards.  The Facility shall maintain full responsibility for the maintenance 

and storage of all medical records, including therapy records and physicians orders for 

therapy services, both during the terms of this Agreement and at all times following the 

term of this Agreement.   

 



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

c) Upon execution by both Parties of a mutually agreeable Business Associate Agreement, 

the Facility shall promptly make available to Select Rehabilitation all patient records for 

review and inspection necessary for the proper provision of services. 

 

d) Until the expiration of four (4) years after the furnishing of services pursuant to this 

Agreement, Select Rehabilitation agrees to make available, upon written request from the 

Secretary of Health and Human Services or any of their duly authorized representatives, 

this Agreement and books, documents, and records of Select Rehabilitation necessary to 

verify the extent of costs incurred by the Facility under this Agreement. 

 

4. Select Rehabilitation’s Written & Electronic Materials 

 

During the term of this Agreement and at all times thereafter, the Facility shall not disclose, 

communicate or divulge to (except to the extent such disclosure is required by law (including, but 

not limited to, a disclosure required under the Freedom of Information Act)), or use for the direct 

or indirect benefit of, any person, firm, association or company, any written or electronic materials 

of Select Rehabilitation, including, but not limited to, any manuals, policies, procedures, or 

educational materials, made available to the Facility by Select Rehabilitation or acquired by the 

Facility during the term of this Agreement.  During the term of this Agreement and at all times 

thereafter, the above Written or Electronic Materials will remain the property of Select 

Rehabilitation.  Upon the termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever, the Facility 

and any and all of its employees, agents or representatives will return to Select Rehabilitation all 

copies of the written or electronic materials in their possession.  The Parties acknowledge that the 

restrictions contained in this Section 4 are reasonable and, in the event of a violation thereof, 

Select Rehabilitation shall be entitled to, in addition to any and all other forms of relief, 

preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, which rights shall be cumulative and in addition to 

any other rights or remedies to which Select Rehabilitation may be entitled.  The Parties 

acknowledge that the written and electronic materials described in this section do not include 

patient specific medical records. 

 

5. Restrictions on Hiring 

 

The Facility agrees that during the term of this Agreement and for a period of one (1) year after 

termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever, neither the Facility nor any affiliate of 

the Facility, shall directly or indirectly: (a) employ or contract with or contract for the services of, 

or otherwise utilize the services of, any individual who is an employee or independent contractor 

of Select Rehabilitation or who was an employee or independent contractor of Select 

Rehabilitation at any time during the one (1) year period prior to the termination of this Agreement 

or (b) contract with any person or entity in which any such individual described in clause (a) 

above has an interest as a  principal, partner, director, officer, agent, employee, consultant, 

contractor or otherwise with any such person or entity.  Facility agrees that, during the term of this 

Agreement and for a period of one (1) year after the termination of this Agreement for any reason 

whatsoever, neither the Facility nor any affiliate of the Facility shall, directly or indirectly, induce 

or attempt to influence any employee or contractor of Select Rehabilitation to terminate his or her 

relationship with Select Rehabilitation or his or her employer.  Facility acknowledges that the 

restrictions set forth in the Section 5, in view of the nature of the business in which Select 

Rehabilitation is engaged, are reasonable and necessary to protect the legitimate interests of Select 

Rehabilitation and that any violation thereof would result in irreparable injuries to Select 

Rehabilitation and Facility agrees that Select Rehabilitation shall be entitled to injunctive relief, in 

addition to all other rights and remedies available to Select Rehabilitation at law or in equity to 

enforce the terms of this Section 5.  Facility and Select Rehabilitation further agree that it will be 

difficult to fix the exact amount of damages suffered by Select Rehabilitation in the event of a 

breach by the Facility of under this Paragraph 5 and accordingly agree to liquidated damages to 

Select Rehabilitation in an amount equal to 70% of the employee’s or contractor’s annual salary.  

If any court or competent jurisdiction shall determine that any of the foregoing restraints are too 



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

broad as to the nature, scope, duration or geographic area covered, such restraints shall be reduced 

to the extent required to render them valid or enforceable.   

 

6. Term and Termination 

 

Term.  The term of this Agreement shall commence on ________________________, (“the 

Commencement Date”) and shall continue for a period of one (1) year thereafter (the “Initial 

Term”), unless sooner terminated in accordance with the provisions of this Section.  The term of 

this Agreement shall be extended automatically for additional one (1) year periods, unless either 

party provides the other party with written notice no less than sixty (60) days prior to the 

expiration of the Contract Term.  Either party may at any time terminate this Agreement for cause 

(as defined below) upon ten (10) days prior written notice to the other party, which notice shall 

state the cause for termination and specify the effective day of such termination, and the party 

receiving such notice shall have the right within such ten (10) days to cure the alleged default to 

the reasonable satisfaction of the party giving notice, provided, however, that termination shall be 

effective immediately upon receipt of notice of termination for any cause stated in (a) (ii), (b) (iii),  

(b) (iv) or (b) (v) of this section.  The Facility agrees to waive its rights to terminate this 

Agreement for any period in which its payment for services are not made in accordance with this 

Agreement.  Select Rehabilitation reserves the right to terminate this Agreement and remove all 

therapy staff from the Facility, if payment terms are not met, with ten (10) days prior notice to the 

Facility.   

 

a) Facility.  For the Facility, cause shall include (i) material breach by Select Rehabilitation 

of any of its obligations under this Agreement or any Business Associate Agreement 

entered into between Select Rehabilitation and the Facility or (ii) if Select Rehabilitation 

is dissolved or liquidated, or shall apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, 

trustee, or liquidator for Select Rehabilitation or all or a substantial part of the assets of 

Select Rehabilitation, file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy, make a general assignment 

for the benefit of creditors, file a petition of an answer seeking reorganization of 

arrangement with creditors or to take advantage of any insolvency law, or if an order, 

judgment or decree shall be entered by a court of competent jurisdiction, on the 

application of a creditor, adjudicating Select Rehabilitation as bankrupt or insolvent or 

approving a petition seeking reorganization of said party or appointing a receiver, trustee 

or liquidator for Select Rehabilitation or all or a substantial part of its assets, and such 

order, judgment or decree shall continue unstayed in effect for a period of thirty (30) 

consecutive days. 

b) Select Rehabilitation.  For Select Rehabilitation cause shall include, (i) failure of the 

Facility to compensate Select Rehabilitation when due in accordance with the terms of 

this Agreement; (ii) a material breach by the Facility of any of its other obligations under 

this Agreement; (iii) the Facility ceasing to be a duly licensed skilled nursing facility or 

its exclusion from or failure to maintain participation in the Medicare or Medicaid 

program;  (iv) the failure of Facility to submit MDS data on a timely and accurate basis 

(v) if either the Facility or its owner is dissolved or liquidated or shall apply for or 

consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee or liquidator of the Facility or its owner 

or all or a substantial part of the assets of the Facility or its owner, file a voluntary 

petition in bankruptcy, make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, file a 

petition of an answer seeking reorganization of arrangement with creditors, or to take 

advantage of any insolvency law, or if an order, judgment or decree shall be entered by a 

court of competent jurisdiction, on the application of a creditor, adjudicating said party as 

bankrupt or insolvent or approving a petition seeking reorganization of said party or 

appointing a receiver, trustee or liquidator for said party or all or a substantial part of its 

assets, and such order, judgment or decree shall continue unstayed for a period of thirty 

(30) consecutive days. 

 



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

 

7. Compensation 

 

a) The Facility agrees to compensate Select Rehabilitation for services rendered to the 

Facility's Medicare Part A and managed care residents subject to a PDPM reimbursement 

system, according to the fee schedule set forth in Exhibit A.  Select Rehabilitation agrees 

to provide the Facility with resident specific therapy logs documenting the number of 

minutes per day of therapy provided to each resident.  If the submission date for the MDS 

3.0 transmission (as specified in The Federal Register, Section I 889 (e) (6) of the Act) is 

missed by the Facility and by no fault of Select Rehabilitation, the Facility agrees to 

compensate Select Rehabilitation for the full amount of documented therapy minutes 

provided to that resident, regardless of reimbursement to the Facility.     

 

b) Select Rehabilitation will be compensated by the Facility for services rendered from the 

first day of the month to the last day of the month (hereinafter known as the "billing 

period") according to invoices submitted to the Facility as set forth in the Illinois Local 

Government Prompt Payment Act, 50 ILCS 505/1 et seq. If a credit card is used for 

payment of Select Rehabilitation invoices, the credit card processing fee will be paid by 

the Facility.  The Facility shall be solely responsible for billing the Facility’s residents 

and/or their respective governmental or other third party payers and insurers for services 

provided to the Facility's residents by Select Rehabilitation unless otherwise required by 

applicable federal or state law, rules or regulations or third party payers.  At Select 

Rehabilitation's request, the Facility shall provide evidence of actual amounts billed to 

and/or received from Medicare.  This evidence may include, but is not limited to, CMS 

Form UB04 and/or remittance advices received from Medicare or the appropriate 

Medicare Administrative Contractor (MAC). The Facility shall be solely responsible for 

timely completion and reporting of patient assessment certifications required by Medicare 

and any state Medicaid agency.  In the event of a change in ownership of the Facility, the 

Facility agrees that all outstanding amounts due Select Rehabilitation will be paid to 

Select Rehabilitation prior to the effective date of such change in ownership.  In the event 

of termination of this Agreement, Select Rehabilitation shall be entitled to compensation 

for any services provided up to the effective date of such termination. 

 

c) Select Rehabilitation shall be compensated for Medicare Part B, private pay, insurance 

and all other payer sources according to Exhibit B.  The terms for compensation and 

invoice shall be the same as for those in Exhibit A. 

 

8.   Change in Regulatory Environment 

 

The Parties have entered into this Agreement based upon the regulatory framework in effect on the 

date of the execution of this Agreement.  In the event that new laws, rules or regulations materially 

change the economics of providing the services contemplated hereunder, then the Parties agree to 

negotiate in good faith for at least sixty (60) days in an effort to reach a mutually acceptable 

realignment of interests.  If the Parties are unable to reach agreement at the end of said sixty (60) 

day period, then either party may terminate this Agreement upon sixty (60) days written notice to 

the other. 

 

9. Independent Contractor Relationship  

 

Neither party shall be construed in any manner whatsoever to be an employee, agent, or partner of 

the other.  Select Rehabilitation is an independent contractor of the Facility for purposes of this 

Agreement.  The Facility retains ultimate responsibility for all care provided to its parties and for 

compliance with its duties and responsibilities vested in the Facility by law. 

 

 

 



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

10. Insurance 

 

During the term of this Agreement, Select Rehabilitation shall maintain professional liability 

insurance coverage not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) per occurrence and Two 

Million Dollars ($2,000,000) in aggregate, and worker's compensation insurance as required in the 

state in which the Facility is located. During the term of this Agreement, the Facility shall be self-

insured.   

 

11. Indemnification 

 

The Facility shall indemnify and hold Select Rehabilitation harmless from and against all claims, 

demands, costs, expenses, liabilities and losses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) which may 

result against Select Rehabilitation as a consequence of any alleged malfeasance, neglect or 

medical malpractice caused or alleged to be caused by the Facility, its employees, agents, or 

contractors.  Select Rehabilitation shall indemnify and hold the Facility harmless from and against 

all claims, demands, costs, expenses, liabilities and losses (including reasonable attorney's fees) 

which may result against the Facility as a consequence of any alleged medical malpractice, 

malfeasance or neglect caused or alleged to be caused by Select Rehabilitation, its employees, 

agents or contractors, in connection with the performance of services pursuant to this Agreement. 

 

12. Medical Necessity Denials 

 

Select Rehab shall indemnify the Facility for medical necessity denials, notwithstanding anything 

in this Agreement to the contrary, Select Rehabilitation’s liability under this Section shall include 

only those amounts with respect to Medicare direct services that have been billed to the Facility 

and that have been retroactively denied or rejected for reimbursement solely due to a 

determination that such services were not medically necessary.  Select Rehabilitation will be liable 

for such denials only to the extent that the Facility has been unsuccessful in recovering amounts 

with respect to such denials through the appeals process and all appeals have been exhausted.  

Select Rehabilitation’s liability under this Section shall not include any amounts attributable to the 

Facility's administrative charges and shall be limited to only direct charges for services by Select 

Rehabilitation.  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, any denial caused by 

or resulting from the failure of the Facility, its employees or agents to (i) comply with any 

provision of this Agreement or federal or state law or regulation, (ii) correctly bill Medicare, the 

Medicare Administrative Contractor (MAC) or any third party payer, (iii) correctly determine or 

communicate to Select Rehabilitation a resident's eligibility for coverage or change in such status 

shall be the sole responsibility of the Facility.  Without limiting the foregoing, the obligations of 

Select Rehabilitation under this Section are subject to the following conditions (A) the Facility 

shall not take any action inconsistent with any appeal of a denial, and (B) the Facility shall 

promptly notify Select Rehabilitation of any denial, and in any event within five (5) days of 

receipt of any Denial Notice or Additional Development Request or Request for Additional 

Information, and (C) the Facility shall not be in default of any of its material obligations to Select 

Rehabilitation under this agreement. 

 

13. Attorneys’ Fees 

 

The Parties agree that in connection with any litigation or arbitration involving any controversy, 

dispute, or claim arising out of or in connection with either Party's enforcement of any of the terms 

or provisions contained in this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from 

the non-prevailing party in addition to the relief granted, all of its costs incurred, including 

reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses. 

 

 

 

 

 



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

14. Notice   

 

Any notice made or required to be given pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall 

be considered effective as of the date either mailed by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, 

return receipt requested, or sent by nationally recognized overnight courier service. 

 

 

 If to Facility:  River Bluff Nursing Home 

    4401 North Main St. 

Rockford, IL 61103 

Attention: Administrator 

 

  With a Copy to:  Winnebago County Purchasing Department  

     404 Elm Stret, Room 202 

     Rockford, IL 61101 

     Attention: Director of Purchasing 

 

  If to Select Rehabilitation:  

 

     Select Rehabilitation, LLC 

     2600 Compass Rd. 

     Glenview, IL 60026 

     Attention: Privacy Officer 

 

15. Civil Rights  

 

Select Rehabilitation agrees to comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and all 

regulations promulgated pursuant thereto. 

 

 

16. Compliance with Laws and Regulations  

 

The Parties agree to be bound by and comply with all applicable state and federal laws and 

regulations in effect from time to time. 

 

17. Assignment; Entire Agreement; Amendment; Waiver  

 

This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the Parties to this Agreement with respect to 

the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and 

understandings.  Each party to this Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducement, 

promises, or agreement, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on 

behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and that no other agreement, statement or 

promise not contained in this Agreement shall be valid or binding.  The obligations of Facility 

contained in this Agreement shall be binding upon Facility, as well as Facility's successors and 

assigns (hereinafter defined) regardless of any actual or constructive notice to them.  "Successors 

and assigns" shall mean any successor pursuant to a merger, consolidation, sale or other transfer of 

all or substantially all of the assets or equity of Facility.  Facility agrees to specifically include in 

any merger, consolidation, sale or other transfer agreement that Facility's obligations under this 

Agreement shall be binding upon Facility's successors and assigns.  Any modification of the 

Agreement shall be effective only if it is in writing and signed by all parties to this Agreement.  

The failure or delay by a party at any time to require performance of any provision of this 

Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of such provision and shall not affect the right of such 

party to require performance at a later date.  No waiver shall be effective unless in writing and 

signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver; Select Rehabilitation may not assign this 



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

Agreement without the express written consent of the Facility, which consent shall not be 

unreasonably withheld. 

 

18. Severability   

 

Should any provision of this Agreement or application thereof be held invalid or unenforceable, 

the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected and shall continue to be valid and 

enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law unless to do so would defeat the purpose of this 

Agreement.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of 

the State of Illinois.  Each party to this Agreement hereby consents to personal jurisdiction in any 

state or Federal Court located in Winnebago County, Illinois. The captions and headings set forth 

in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only and the words contained therein shall no 

way be held to define, limit, describe, explain, modify, amplify or add to the interpretation, 

construction or meaning of this Agreement or any portion of this Agreement. 

 

19. Confidentiality 

 

It is understood that both Parties shall not disclose the terms of this Agreement to any person, 

corporation or entity other than the parties to the Agreement and/or Medicare and Medicaid or any 

government body or professional licensing organization which has jurisdiction over the Facility or 

its business, except to the extent such disclosure is required by law (including, but not limited to, a 

disclosure required under the Freedom of Information Act).  Notwithstanding anything contained 

herein to the contrary, the nondisclosure provisions set forth in this Section 19 shall not apply to 

Section 5 of the Agreement and staff members performing services. 

 

 

 

 

County of Winnebago 

d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 
SELECT REHABILITATION, LLC 

4401 North Main Street 

Rockford, IL 61103 

2600 Compass Road 

Glenview, IL 60026 

 

 

 

 

By:    By:    

 

Title:    Title:    

 

Date:    Date:    



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

EXHIBIT A 

 

 

 

Compensation Schedule –  

 

Medicare Part A and Skilled Managed Payers subject to a PDPM reimbursement Structure 

 

Select Rehabilitation will be compensated at 35% of the therapy component for residents whom the 

Facility is reimbursed for the therapy case mix component (PT and/or, OT, and/or ST) of the facility’s 

PDPM reimbursement. 

 

Managed Care Payers  

 

Select Rehabilitation will be compensated at a rate of $ 1.05 per minute of $ 15.75 per unit.  

 

 

Managed Medicaid or Medicaid 

 

Select Rehabilitation will be compensated at a rate of $ .99 per minute for all direct patient care minutes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

EXHIBIT B 

 

Medicare Part B 

 

Select Rehabilitation will be compensated for therapy services rendered for Medicare Part B according to 

the following stated percentage of the Physician Fee Schedule that is geographically adjusted for the 

location of the Facility: 

 

Select Rehabilitation Retention Percentage 

 

68% of the geographically adjusted Physician Fee Schedule  

 

 

Other Payer Sources 

 

Select Rehabilitation will be compensated for therapy services rendered at a rate of $ .99 per minute.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

Business Associate Agreement  

  

This Business Associate Agreement ("BA Agreement"), effective _____________ ("Effective Date"), is 

entered into by and between Select Rehabilitation, LLC ("Business Associate") and County of Winnebago 

d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home ("Covered Entity" or "Facility") (each a "Party" and collectively the 

"Parties"). 

 

RECITALS 

 

 WHEREAS, the Parties have entered in to a Therapy Services Agreement ("Agreement") pursuant 

to which Business Associate is providing certain services ("Services") to the Covered Entity; 

 

 WHEREAS, in connection with the Services, Covered Entity may disclose to Business Associate 

certain protected health information ("PHI") that is subject to protection under applicable provisions of: (i) 

the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, Pub. L. 104-191, as amended ("HIPAA"); 

(ii) the privacy standards (at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, subparts A and E (the "Privacy Rule") and 

security standards (at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, subparts A and C (the "Security Rule") adopted by the 

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS"); (iii) Subtitle D of the Health Information 

Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, Pub. L. 111-5 (the "HITECH Act"), including as 

implemented by 45 C.F.R. part 164, subpart D (the "Breach Notification Rule") and the regulations 

published at 78 Fed. Reg. 5566 (Jan. 25, 2013), adopted by HHS, all as they may be amended from time to 

time (collectively, the "HIPAA Rules"); 

 

 WHEREAS, the HIPAA Rules require that Covered Entity receive assurance that Business 

Associate will comply with applicable obligations under the HIPAA Rules with respect to any PHI received 

from or on behalf of Covered Entity in the course of providing Services to Covered Entity; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the purpose of this BA Agreement is to comply with the requirements of the HIPAA 

Rules. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants herein, and for good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree 

as follows:  

1.1 Business Associate Relationship  

The Parties acknowledge that Select Rehabilitation is a health care provider and the services 

rendered under the Agreement constitute Treatment services.  The Parties further acknowledge 

that Facility is a Covered Entity as such term is defined under the HIPAA Rules (as defined 

below).  Under 45 C.F.R. § 160.103, individuals and entities other than members of Facility's 

workforce who perform or assist in the performance of functions or activities on behalf of Facility 

that involve the Use and Disclosure of Protected Health Information are deemed "Business 

Associates" of Facility.  The HIPAA Rules require that the relationship between Covered Entities 

and Business Associates include a written agreement defining the terms and conditions under 

which Business Associates will have access to and use of Facility's Protected Health Information.  

To the extent that any of the Services performed by Select Rehabilitation under this Agreement 

qualify as Business Associate services on behalf of Facility, the Parties agree to abide by the 

obligations under this BA Agreement.  

1.2 Definitions 

The following capitalized terms used in this Section shall have the same meaning as those terms in 

the HIPAA Rules: Breach, Data Aggregation, Designated Record Set, Disclosure, Health Care 

Operations, Individual, Minimum Necessary, Notice of Privacy Practices, Protected Health 



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

Information, Required By Law, Secretary, Security Incident, Subcontractor, Treatment, Unsecured 

Protected Health Information, and Use.   

Specific definitions include: 

a)  Business Associate.  “Business Associate” shall generally have the same meaning as the 

term “business associate” at 45 CFR 160.103, and in reference to the party to this BA 

Agreement, shall mean Select Rehabilitation.  

b)  Covered Entity.  “Covered Entity” shall generally have the same meaning as the term 

“covered entity” at 45 CFR 160.103, and in reference to the party to this BA Agreement, 

shall mean Facility. 

c)  HIPAA Rules.  “HIPAA Rules” shall mean the Privacy, Security, Breach Notification, 

and Enforcement Rules at 45 CFR Part 160 and Part 164. 

d) Protected Health Information.  "Protected Health Information" shall have the same 

meaning as the term "protected health information" in 45 C.F.R. § 160.103, however, as 

used in this BA Agreement, the application shall be limited to information that is created, 

received, transmitted or maintained by Select Rehabilitation on behalf of Facility.  

1.3  Obligations and Activities of Business Associate 

Business Associate agrees to: 

a)  Not Use or Disclose Protected Health Information other than as permitted or required by 

the Agreement, this BA Agreement or as Required By Law; 

b)  Use appropriate safeguards, and comply with Subpart C of 45 CFR Part 164 with respect 

to electronic Protected Health Information, to prevent Use or Disclosure of Protected 

Health Information other than as provided for by the Agreement or this BA Agreement; 

c)  Report to Covered Entity any Use or Disclosure of Protected Health Information not 

provided for by the Agreement or this BA Agreement of which it becomes aware, 

including Breaches of Unsecured Protected Health Information as required at 45 CFR 

164.410, and any Security Incident of which it becomes aware.  The Parties acknowledge 

and agree that this Section constitutes notice by Business Associate to Covered Entity of 

the ongoing occurrence of events that may constitute Security Incidents, but that are 

trivial, routine, do not constitute a material threat to the security of Protected Health 

Information, and do not result in unauthorized access to, Use or Disclosure of Protected 

Health Information (such as, but not limited to, typical pings and port scans), for which 

no additional notice to Covered Entity shall be required; 

d) In accordance with 45 CFR 164.502(e)(1)(ii) and 164.308(b)(2), if applicable, ensure that 

any subcontractors that create, receive, maintain, or transmit Protected Health 

Information on behalf of the Business Associate agree to the same restrictions, 

conditions, and requirements that apply to the Business Associate with respect to such 

information; 

e)  To the extent that Business Associate maintains any Protected Health Information in a 

Designated Record Set on behalf of Facility, Business Associate agrees to make available 

such Protected Health Information to the Covered Entity as necessary to satisfy Covered 

Entity’s obligations under 45 CFR 164.524; provided, however, that Business Associate 

shall not be required to provide such access if the Protected Health Information contained 



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

in a Designated Record Set is duplicative of the Protected Health Information maintained 

by Facility.  If an Individual makes a request for access directly to Business Associate, or 

inquiries about his or her rights of access, Business Associate will either forward such 

request to Facility or direct the Individual to Facility; 

f)  To the extent that Business Associate maintains any Protected Health Information in a 

Designated Record Set on behalf of Facility, Business Associate agrees to coordinate 

with Facility in the determination of whether the requested amendment to the Protected 

Health Information maintained by Business Associate is acceptable.  If the Parties agree 

to the amendment pursuant to 45 CFR 164.526, Business Associate shall make any 

amendment(s) to such Protected Health Information as directed by the Covered Entity, or 

take other measures as necessary to satisfy Covered Entity’s obligations under 45 CFR 

164.526.  If an Individual makes a request for amendment directly to Business Associate, 

or inquiries about his or her rights to amend, Business Associate will either forward such 

request to Facility or direct the Individual to Facility; 

g) Maintain and make available the information required to provide an accounting of 

disclosures to the Covered Entity as necessary to satisfy Covered Entity’s obligations 

under 45 CFR 164.528; 

h)   To the extent the Business Associate is to carry out one or more of Covered Entity's 

obligation(s) under Subpart E of 45 CFR Part 164, comply with the requirements of 

Subpart E that apply to the Covered Entity in the performance of such obligation(s); and 

i)  Make its internal practices, books, and records available to the Secretary for purposes of 

determining compliance with the HIPAA Rules. 

1.4  Permitted Uses and Disclosures by Business Associate 

a)  Business Associate may Use or Disclose Protected Health Information as necessary to 

perform the services set forth in this BA Agreement. Except as otherwise limited in this 

BA Agreement, Business Associate may Use Protected Health Information to provide 

Data Aggregation for the Health Care Operations of Covered Entity; may Use, analyze or 

Disclose Protected Health Information in its possession for public health activities and 

purposes set forth in 45 C.F.R. § 164.512(b); and de-identify any Protected Health 

Information provided Business Associate implements de-identification criteria as set 

forth in 45 C.F.R. § 164.514(b).  

b)  Business Associate may Use or Disclose Protected Health Information as Required By 

Law. 

c)  Business Associate agrees to make Uses and Disclosures and requests for Protected 

Health Information consistent with Covered Entity’s Minimum Necessary policies and 

procedures. 

d)  Business Associate may not Use or Disclose Protected Health Information in a manner 

that would violate Subpart E of 45 CFR Part 164 if done by Covered Entity except for the 

specific Uses and Disclosures set forth below. 

e)  Business Associate may Use Protected Health Information for the proper management 

and administration of the Business Associate or to carry out the legal responsibilities of 

the Business Associate. 



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

f)  Business Associate may Disclose Protected Health Information for the proper 

management and administration of Business Associate or to carry out the legal 

responsibilities of the Business Associate, provided the Disclosures are Required By 

Law, or Business Associate obtains reasonable assurances from the person to whom the 

information is Disclosed that the information will remain confidential and Used or further 

Disclosed only As Required By Law or for the purposes for which it was Disclosed to the 

person, and the person notifies Business Associate of any instances of which it is aware 

in which the confidentiality of the information has been breached. 

1.5   Provisions for Covered Entity to Inform Business Associate of Privacy Practices and 

Restrictions 

a)  Covered Entity shall notify Business Associate of any limitation(s) in the notice of 

privacy practices of Covered Entity under 45 CFR 164.520, to the extent that such 

limitation may affect Business Associate’s Use or Disclosure of Protected Health 

Information. 

b)  Covered Entity shall notify Business Associate of any changes in, or revocation of, the 

permission by an Individual to Use or Disclose his or her Protected Health Information, 

to the extent that such changes may affect Business Associate’s Use or Disclosure of 

Protected Health Information. 

c)  Covered Entity shall notify Business Associate of any restriction on the Use or 

Disclosure of Protected Health Information that Covered Entity has agreed to or is 

required to abide by under 45 CFR 164.522, to the extent that such restriction may affect 

Business Associate’s Use or Disclosure of Protected Health Information. 

1.6  Permissible Requests by Covered Entity 

Covered Entity shall not request Business Associate to Use or Disclose Protected Health 

Information in any manner that would not be permissible under Subpart E of 45 CFR Part 

164 if done by Covered Entity, except that Business Associate may Use or Disclose 

Protected Health Information for Data Aggregation, or management and administration 

and legal responsibilities of the Business Associate as set forth above. 

1.7  Termination of Agreement 

a)  Termination for Cause. Covered Entity may terminate this BA Agreement, if Covered 

Entity determines Business Associate has violated a material term of this Section, and 

Business Associate has not cured the breach or ended the violation within the time 

specified by Covered Entity.  The Covered Entity will provide Business Associate with a 

reasonable opportunity to cure a violation or breach of this Section before termination for 

cause. 

b)   Obligations of Business Associate Upon Termination. 

Upon termination of this BA Agreement for any reason, Business Associate, with respect 

to Protected Health Information received from Covered Entity, or created, maintained, or 

received by Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity, shall: 

1. Retain only that Protected Health Information necessary for Business Associate to 

continue its proper management and administration or to carry out its legal 

responsibilities;  



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

2. Return to Covered Entity or, if agreed to by Covered Entity, destroy the remaining 

Protected Health Information that the Business Associate still maintains in any form;  

3. Continue to use appropriate safeguards and comply with Subpart C of 45 CFR Part 164 

with respect to electronic Protected Health Information to prevent Use or Disclosure of 

the Protected Health Information, other than as provided for in this Section, for as long as 

Business Associate retains the Protected Health Information;  

4. Not Use or Disclose the Protected Health Information retained by Business Associate 

other than for the purposes for which such Protected Health Information was retained and 

subject to the same conditions set out at Section 1.4 which applied prior to termination; 

and  

5. Return to Covered Entity or, if agreed to by Covered Entity, destroy the Protected Health 

Information retained by Business Associate when it is no longer needed by Business 

Associate for its proper management and administration or to carry out its legal 

responsibilities. 

c)  Survival.  The obligations of Business Associate under this Section 1.7 shall survive the 

termination of this BA Agreement. 

 1.8 Compliance with EDI Rule and other Aspects of Administrative Simplification Regulations   

In the event that Business Associate engages in any Standard Transactions on behalf of Facility, 

Business Associate agrees that, on behalf of the Facility, it will perform the following transaction 

for which a standard has been developed under the EDI Rules (Standard Transactions): 

 Any Standard Transaction that Business Associate could reasonably be expected to 

perform in the ordinary course of its functions on behalf of the Facility. 
  

To the extent applicable, Business Associate agrees that it will comply with all applicable EDI 

standards no later than the date that the EDI Rule becomes effective with regard to Business 

Associate.  Business Associate further agrees that it will use its best efforts to comply with all 

applicable regulatory provisions in addition to the EDI Rules and the HIPAA Rules that are 

promulgated pursuant to the Administrative Simplification Subtitle of HIPAA, no later than the 

date such provisions become effective with regard to Business Associate. 

1.9 Miscellaneous  

a)  Regulatory References. A reference in this Section to a section in the HIPAA Rules 

means the section as in effect or as amended. 

b)  Amendment. The Parties agree to take such action as is necessary to amend this BA 

Agreement from time to time as is necessary for compliance with the requirements of the 

HIPAA Rules, HITECH Standards and any other applicable law.  The Parties may agree 

to amend this BA Agreement from time to time in any other respect that they deem 

appropriate 

c)  Interpretation. Any ambiguity in this Agreement shall be interpreted to permit 

compliance with the HIPAA Rules and HITECH Standards. 

d) Notices.  All notices pertaining to this BA Agreement shall be given in writing and shall 

be deemed duly given when personally delivered to a Party or a Party's authorized 

representative as listed below or sent by means of a reputable overnight carrier, or sent by 

means of certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid.  A notice sent by 



County of Winnebago, d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

certified mail shall be deemed given on the date of receipt or refusal of receipt.  All 

notices shall be addressed to the appropriate Party as follows:  

   If to Covered Entity: 

   County of Winnebago 

d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

   4401 North Main Street 

Rockford, IL 61103 

   ATTN:  

 

With a Copy to:  Winnebago County Purchasing Department  

    404 Elm Stret, Room 202 

    Rockford, IL 61101 

    Attention: Director of Purchasing 

 

   If to Business Associate: 

   Select Rehabilitation, LLC 

  2600 Compass Road 

  Glenview, IL  60026 

  ATTN: Privacy Officer  

 

e) No Third Party Beneficiaries.  Nothing in this BA Agreement shall be considered or 

construed as conferring any right or benefit on a person not party to this BA Agreement 

nor imposing any obligations on either Party hereto to persons not a party to this BA 

Agreement. 

f) No Agency.  Unless the context of the relationship specifically requires otherwise, 

Business Associate shall not be deemed to be the common law agent of the Covered 

Entity. 

 

Agreed to: 

BUSINESS ASSOCIATE    COVERED ENTITY 

By:       By:       

Name:  Anna Gardina Wolfe   Name:       

Title:  CEO     Title:       

Date:       Date:       

 



 
 

   
    Resolution Executive Summary 

 

  

Prepared By:              Purchasing Department for River Bluff Nursing Home 

Committee:              Operations and Administrative Committee 

Committee Date:         July 6, 2023 

Board Meeting Date:  July 13, 2023  

Resolution Title:          Resolution to Approve New Laundry and Linen Services at River Bluff Nursing Home 
 

Was item budgeted?  Yes                                            Appropriation Amount:   N/A 

If not, explain funding source:   

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  73500 - 42290                             Descriptor:   RBNH Laundry Service 
 

Background Information:  In April of 2010, a dryer fire spread through a vent to the roof of River Bluff, causing 
extensive damage to the on-site laundry room and equipment. Immediately after the fire, management 
contracted with Superior Health Linens for all on-site laundry service needs as an emergency purchase.  The 
laundry room was converted into the maintenance room. 
 

In 2017, Purchasing issued Request for Proposal 17P-2113 for Laundry and Linen Services.  A total of three 
proposals were received, with EcoBrite Linen being awarded the five-year contract.     
 

In early 2023, Purchasing again issued a Request for Proposal 23P-2268 for Laundry and Linen Services. The 
RFP was widely advertised. There were only two proposals received, which were both deemed to be non-
responsive.  At that point, Purchasing began exploring possible alternatives to the RFP process.  Research was 
conducted, local nursing homes and nursing homes in other Illinois counties were contacted to learn how 
they handle their laundry needs, all in search of finding potential vendors.  Almost all stated they use their 
own in-house laundry equipment and staff.   Unfortunately for River Bluff, building codes have become too 
restricted to consider remodeling the 1972 building to house a new laundry room, at this time.  
 

While Purchasing was exploring alternatives, River Bluff has been operating month to month with EcoBrite 
at a significate rate increase.  EcoBrite has also notified us that they want to discontinue service as soon as 
possible.  Additionally, EcoBrite’s quality of service has declined lately. 
 

Healthcare Linen Services Group, formally Superior Health Linens, was contacted since they have worked 
with RBNH after the fire for several years.  They presented services proposal which includes the following: 

• 2 FTE, including a working Supervisor, under their employ, that will be housed at River Bluff for 
internalized control. 

• An inventory control process, which includes a UV light system, which lowers microbial count. 
• Onsite portal to order items ahead of time and to track usage and quality. 

 

Recommendation:  At their June 20 meeting, the RBNH Board of Directors discussed the new services and 
recommends awarding vendor agreement. 
 

Legal Review:  State’s Attorney’s Office has reviewed, revised and approved the final agreements, Resolution 
Exhibit A and Resolution Exhibit B. 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

Follow-Up:   Purchasing will award the new agreements and issue EcoBrite a contract termination notice. 



County Board Meeting:  July 13, 2023 
 

 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Keith McDonald, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:   Operations and Administrative Committee 
   

2023 CR 
 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE NEW LAUNDRY AND LINEN SERVICES AT RIVER BLUFF NURSING HOME 
 
 

         WHEREAS, County of Winnebago owned River Bluff Nursing Home is in need of a 
new laundry and linen services provider for its residents; and, 

 

         WHEREAS, in February of 2023, the Winnebago County Purchasing Department 
solicited Request for Proposals for 23P-2268 Laundry and Linen Services and received 
two non-responsive proposals that were unable to provide the services required; and, 
 

         WHEREAS, research was conducted and a former vendor is able to provide the required 
services at fair and reasonable rates; and, 

 

           WHEREAS, the Operations and Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed the Laundry and Linen Services Agreements, 
Resolution Exhibit A and Resolution Exhibit B, for the aforementioned project and recommends 
awarding the agreements as follows:  
 

 

                                   HEALTHCARE LINEN SERVICES GROUP 
            255 38th AVENUE, SUITE M 
          ST. CHARLES, ILLINOIS 60174    
 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois that the River Bluff Nursing Home Administrator is authorized to execute agreements, 
similar in language to Resolution Exhibits A and B, on behalf of the County of Winnebago, with 
HEALTHCARE LINEN SERVICES GROUP, 255 38th AVENUE, SUITE M, ST. CHARLES, ILLINOIS 60174. 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective 
immediately upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to prepare 
and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the River Bluff Nursing Home Administrator, 
Director of Purchasing, Board Office, Finance Director and County Auditor. 

 
 
 
 



             Respectfully Submitted, 
                        OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 
 

                            VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 

PAUL ARENA 
 
 

                                                                             PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

                                                                         JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                          JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

JAIME SALGADO       JAIME SALGADO 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2023. 

 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIR OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



Page 1 of 7 

Linen Service Agreement 

LINEN SERVICE AGREEMENT 

This Linen Service Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the 1st day of                   , 

2023 (the “Effective Date”) and between Superior Health Linens, LLC (herein referred to as "Superior"), a 

Wisconsin limited liability company, with its principal place of business located at 2580 Foxfield Road, St. 

Charles, IL 60174, and County of Winnebago d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home (herein referred to as 

"Customer"), with the County’s principal place of business located at 404 Elm Street, Rockford, IL 61101 and 

River Bluff Nursing Home located at 4401 N. Main Street, Rockford, Illinois 61103; each a “Party” and 

together the “Parties”. 

WHEREAS, Superior provides laundry and related services to commercial customers and is willing to 

provide such services to Customer; and 

WHEREAS, Customer desires to purchase laundry services exclusively from Superior during the term 

of this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, Superior is willing to provide laundry service to Customer on the terms and conditions 

hereinafter set forth. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein, the 

parties agree as follows: 

1. Superior Capabilities.  During the Term (as defined below), Superior shall provide laundry

services to Customer as described in this Agreement and Exhibits A and B attached hereto and incorporated 

herein by this reference (the “Services”).     

2. Superior Services.

2.1 Superior will provide Customer with linens used at Customer’s facility as set forth in 

Exhibit A to this Agreement. 

2.2 Superior shall provide recyclable, durable plastic bags at a cost as set forth on 

Exhibit B to this Agreement. 

2.3 Superior will sort and inspect clean linen for stains or items requiring mending. 

3. Laundry Services.  Superior will provide laundry services for the linen items set forth on

Exhibit A supplied by Superior or submitted by Customer.  Laundry services shall include all activities 

customarily associated with laundering, including washing, drying, flat work ironing, folding, and packing in 

carts.  Superior shall pick up soiled items from Customer at one location in Customer’s facility.  Superior will 

deliver clean linen to one central location at Customer's facility.  Delivery schedules will be mutually agreed 

upon and will not be changed without prior written consent of the parties.   

4. Price.  The price for all services provided by Superior under this Agreement, including

providing the linen items and delivery are set forth on Exhibit B. Except as it may otherwise be set forth in 

Exhibit B, and prior to additional incurred costs, Superior shall notify the Customer in writing of any increase in 

pricing within thirty (30) days and the Customer shall accept or reject the increase in writing. If customer rejects 

any increase, Superior shall reserve the right to terminate this agreement with sixty (60) days written notice. 

However, if no funds or insufficient funds are appropriated and budgeted in any fiscal period of the Customer 

RESOLUTION EXHIBIT A



  Page 2 of 7 

 

 

Linen Service Agreement 
 

for payments to be made under this Agreement, then the Customer will notify Superior in writing of that 

occurrence, and this Agreement may terminate if mutually agreed upon by both parties in writing, on the earlier 

of the last day of the fiscal period for which sufficient appropriation was made or whenever the funds 

appropriated for payment under this Agreement are exhausted.  Payment for services completed to the date of 

notification will be made to Superior except that no payments will be made or due to Superior under this 

Agreement beyond those amounts appropriated and budgeted by the Customer to fund payments under this 

Agreement.        

 

5. Documentation.  Superior shall provide to Customer a delivery note with weights on each delivery.  

Superior will provide Customer with a weekly invoice for services rendered during the preceding week. In the 

week following any week with a National Holiday, Superior will invoice customer the average weekly pounds 

from the prior eight (8) weeks service, and Customer shall pay for such pounds. The Customer will make 

payment for all invoices pursuant to 50 ILCS 505/1 et seq., Local Government Prompt Payment Act.   During 

the Term, Customer shall give Superior and its representative’s reasonable access to Customer's premises for 

Superior to count, inventory and assess its linens in Customer's possession.  

 

6. Initial Term.  Unless earlier terminated or County funds not budgeted as set forth herein, the 

initial term of the agreement shall be five (5) years commencing on the Effective Date (the “Initial Term”).  The 

Initial Term and any renewal terms hereunder shall be referred to as the “Term.”  

 

7. Renewal Term.  This Agreement shall automatically renew for two (2) additional one (1) year 

periods (unless earlier terminated as set forth herein), unless either Party gives the other Party written notice of 

its intent to terminate this Agreement at least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of the Initial Term or any 

renewal term of this Agreement. 

 

8. Government Records Review.  The parties agree that they shall make available upon written 

request to the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (the “Secretary”) or upon request 

the Comptroller General of the United States (the “Comptroller General” or any of their duly authorized 

representatives), this Agreement, including amendments hereto, and their books, documents, and records as and 

to the extent necessary to verify the nature and extent of the payments made hereunder.  Said access shall be 

limited to a period of four (4) years after the furnishing of services hereunder and shall be in accordance with the 

written regulations established by the Secretary of the U.S Department of Health and Human Services. The 

Parties further agree that, if they provide any of their duties under this Agreement through a subcontract having 

a value or cost of $10,000 or more over a twelve-month period with a related organization, they will include in 

each subcontract the substance of this paragraph. 

 

9. Confidential Information.   

 

9.1 Superior recognizes that Customer has patient health information and other proprietary 

information, which are valuable, special and unique assets of the Customer.  Superior will not disclose 

or communicate in any matter any protected information (as mentioned above) without prior written 

consent from Customer. 

 

9.2 The use or disclosure by any Party of any information concerning Superior or the terms 

or specifications of this Agreement is prohibited without the written consent of an authorized 

representative of Superior, or as required under applicable law. 

 

10. Compliance with Laws.  

 



  Page 3 of 7 

 

 

Linen Service Agreement 
 

10.1 Each Party represents that it is an Equal Opportunity Employer and shall comply with 

all applicable regulations of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services regarding 

discrimination on the grounds of race, color, handicap, or national origin exclusion from participation, 

denial of benefits, or other discrimination under any program or activity provided by either party. 

  

10.2 Each Party shall comply with all applicable federal, state, county, municipal and other 

governmental statutes, ordinances, laws, and regulations governing the Services and this Agreement.   

   

11. Indemnification. Each Party shall indemnify and hold the other harmless from any and 

all liabilities arising from the breach of this Agreement of each in the performance of its obligations under this 

Agreement.  Each Party shall not pay the attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by the other in bringing a successful 

indemnification claim under this Paragraph.   

 

12. General Terms. 

 

12.1 This Agreement may not be amended or changed except by a subsequent written 

agreement signed by Superior and Customer. 

 

12.2 This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto 

and their permitted successors and assigns. 

 

12.3 This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with and governed by the laws of the 

State of Illinois and may only be enforced in the applicable state and federal courts of the State of 

Illinois. 

 

12.4 This Agreement, together with Exhibits A and B which are attached hereto and made a 

part hereof, constitutes the entire understanding of the parties to this Agreement, and supersedes all 

prior proposals, representations, communications, negotiations, and agreements between the parties, 

whether oral or written. 

 

12.5 Superior and Customer are independent contractors, and this Agreement shall not 

constitute the formation of a partnership, joint venture, employment, or master/servant relationship. 

 

12.6 Any notices or other communications required or contemplated under the provisions of 

this Agreement (i.e., notice of termination, notice of deficiency) shall be in writing and delivered in 

person, evidenced by a signed receipt; mailed by certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid 

or delivered by overnight courier, to the addresses set forth on the signature page of this Agreement. If 

Customer, notices should be addressed to the Administrator and if Superior, notices should be addressed 

to the CEO/President. The date of the notice shall be the date of delivery if the notice is personally 

delivered or the date of mailing if the notice is mailed by certified mail or overnight courier. 

 

12.7 The provisions of this Agreement are independent of and separable from each other, 

and no provision shall be affected or rendered invalid or unenforceable by virtue of the fact that any 

other provision or provisions may be invalid or unenforceable in whole or in part. 

 

12.8 The failure of Superior or Customer to object to or to take affirmative action with 

respect to any conduct of the other which is a breach of this Agreement shall not be construed as a 

waiver of that breach or of any prior or future breaches of this Agreement. 

 



  Page 4 of 7 

 

 

Linen Service Agreement 
 

12.9 Neither Party shall be liable for the delay or failure in the performance of this 

Agreement arising solely from acts of God, public enemies, war, terrorism, new laws or regulations or 

interpretations, strikes or other labor disputes, or other similar force majeure causes beyond the 

reasonable control of the Party. 

 

13. Termination for Breach or Insolvency.  Either Party may terminate this Agreement 

immediately upon notice to the other Party in the event of a default in the performance of the other Party's 

obligations under this Agreement, provided such default continues for more than sixty (60) days after written 

notice of default by the non-defaulting Party. .  In addition, either party may immediately terminate this 

Agreement upon written notice to the other Party in the event the other Party commences a voluntary or 

involuntary proceeding under any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, dissolution, or similar law 

or appoints a trustee, custodian, sequestrator, liquidator, receiver, or similar official with respect to a substantial 

portion of such party's property or assets or makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors. 

 

14. Upon Termination.  Customer shall be responsible for the prompt return of all merchandise 

delivered to their locations by Superior.  Customer agrees to pay for the reasonable replacement cost of any item 

that is not returned or is returned in an unusable/damaged condition.  

 

15. Group Participation.  Customer will participate and facilitate in a group made up of Superior 

representatives and Customer representatives, including the Customer’s executive management.  The mission of 

this group will be to evaluate linen utilization.  The group shall meet at least quarterly. 

 

16. Exclusivity.  During the term of this Agreement, Customer shall obtain its laundry services 

exclusively from Superior. 

 

17. Non-solicitation.  Customer agrees that for a period of one (1) year from the date of 

expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason neither Customer nor its affiliates will directly or 

indirectly solicit for employment or employ any person employed by Superior who provided Services to 

customer or its affiliates during the Term of this Agreement without obtaining Superior's prior written consent. 

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the day and year first 

above written. 

 

 

SUPERIOR HEALTH LINENS, LLC   County of Winnebago d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

2580 FOXFIELD RD.     404 Elm Street 

ST. CHARLES, IL 60174                                       Rockford, IL 61101 

  

By:___________________________   By:____________________________ 

 

     ___________________________        ____________________________ 
       (Print name and title)              (Print name and title)  
 

Date:___________________________   Date:___________________________



  Page 5 of 7 

 

 

Linen Service Agreement 
 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Following is a list of products Superior will provide for Customer and the product 

specifications.  The delivery frequency shall be up to six (6) days per week, 

mutually agreed upon by Superior and Customer.  The location for all delivery of 

services is, 4401 N. Main Street, Rockford, IL 61103. 

 

          

ITEM    SPEC’s/DESCRIPTION          

 

Bath Blanket   Poly-Cotton, White 

Bath Towel   Poly-Cotton, White 

Hand Towel   Poly-Cotton, White 

Wash Cloth   Poly-Cotton, White 

Soft-Knit contour  One size fits all mattress types 

Flat Sheet   T180 Percale        

Pillow Case   T180 Percale 

Patient Gown   Printed 

Obese Patient Gown  Printed 

Incontinent Pads  Synthetic pad 

Diamond Spread Blanket Multiple colors available 

Kitchen Bar Towels  Poly-Cotton, White  

Aprons    Black / White 

Bibs    Poly-Cotton, Multiple colors 

Draw Sheets   T180 Percale 

Microfiber Towels  12 x 12 and 16 x 16 options 

Microfiber Flat Mop  18inch Flat Mop 

String Mop   Various sizes 

 
*Any other textiles must be mutually agreed to by customer and Superior 



  Page 6 of 7 

 

 

Linen Service Agreement 
 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

Pricing for Laundry Service to Customer 

 

Healthcare Laundry Pricing 

Item  1st Year Price  
 Yr. 
2 -7 

1. Bulk Linen  $0.76/lb   CPI  

2. Auto Replacement  $0.04/lb   CPI  

3. Soil Bags  $40.00/case   CPI  

4. Resident Personals / Customer Owned  $1.50/lbs CPI 

 

 

Annual CPI Increases 

 

The prices shall automatically be adjusted annually on each anniversary of the Effective 

Date for inflation as measured by the most recent available 12-month Consumer Price 

Index or 2.5% whichever is higher.  The Consumer Price Index is reported by the U.S. 

Bureau of Labor Statistics, Index Dec 2005=100, Quarterly, Not Seasonally Adjusted. 



  Page 7 of 7 

 

 

Linen Service Agreement 
 

 

Unreturned Linen Charges: 

 

Superior and Customer agree that the minimal goal is to maintain a soil to clean linen 

ratio of 110%. Customer shall not pay an unreturned linen charge for maintaining a soil 

return at or above 110%. This calculation will be communicated weekly, biweekly, or 

monthly by customer request and discussed in group participation made up of both 

customer and Superior representatives. Specific to calculating unreturned linen charges 

the calculation will be made quarterly. If the ratio drops below 110% for the quarter, 

Superior shall invoice Customer for unreturned linen at an additional $0.02/clean lbs, per 

one (1) percent below 110% until the next quarters’ calculation is complete and 

unreturned linen charges are adjusted again. The unreturned linen charge will be added to 

the weekly invoice. Example of shared financial obligation for unreturned linen below: 

 

Clean Soil 
Additional Loss 

Charge 

Pounds 
Expected 
@110% 

100,000 109,000 $         0.02 110,000 

    

Pounds Not 
Returned 

Ratio 

Superiors' Cost 
to Replace 
pounds not 

returned 

Customer's 
U.L. charge 

1000 109.00%  $ 4,000  $2,000.00 

 

 

Superior will provide Customer with a system generated monthly recap of clean linen 

pounds shipped verses soil linen pounds returned. The soil pounds returned by Customer 

will not include the weight of garbage returned to Superior by Customer or any foreign 

products, medical or otherwise. Customer may be subject to additional charges equivalent 

to clean rate/lbs in Exhibit B for excessive garbage, foreign products, medical or other 

waste returned to Superior by Customer. Superior will initiate this program thirty (30) 

days after installation. 

 

In the event, that replacement charges exceed $0.02 per pound, Superior will work with 

the Customer’s staff to correct the deficiencies.  This may include but not be limited to: 

 

• Recommended product substitutions 

• In-service product usage/procedure training 

• Alternate delivery systems 

• Linen Study / Assessment  

• Par Level Adjustments 

• Linen Awareness Days 

• Amnesty Days 

• Increased delivery and collection frequencies 
 



LINEN DISTRIBUTION SERVICES AGREEMENT 

This Linen Distribution Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the 1st day of August, 2023 (the 

“Effective Date”) between Superior Health Linens, LLC d/b/a Healthcare Linen Services Group, a Wisconsin limited liability company 

(herein referred to as "HLSG"), a Wisconsin limited liability company, with its principal place of business located at 1160 Pierson Drive, 

Suite 104, Batavia, IL 60510 and County of Winnebago, Illinois d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home (herein referred to as "Company"), with 

the County’s  principal place of business located at 404 Elm Street, Rockford, IL 61101 and River Bluff Nursing Home located at 4401 

North Main Street,  Rockford, IL 61103. 

1. HLSG agrees to provide Company staffing services as requested by the Company for linen distribution (the

“Services”).  Company agrees to utilize HLSG as its primary provider for the Services. HLSG will assume full

responsibility for paying employees assigned to perform the Services (the “Employees”) for hours billed, paying all

withholdings, transmitting payroll taxes, making unemployment contributions, and paying workers compensation

premiums and 1095-C reporting.  Employees are not eligible to accept benefits from Company, other than those

offered by HLSG.

2. It is understood and agreed supervision of all assigned Employees is the responsibility of the HLSG. HLSG

will ensure Employees have a clear understanding of the Services, Company hours, Company rules, and

will provide assistance to Company supervisors.

3. Company will take every precaution to ensure assigned Employees are provided a safe workplace. HLSG

will ensure all Employees go through a Company orientation, as well as recording all Employee records.

4. Company agrees to verify, sign or authorize the hours worked by Employee(s) assigned by HLSG utilizing a hour

reporting method acceptable to HLSG and Company and to provide the hours to HLSG on a weekly basis.

5. HLSG ensures all Employees receive basic safety training but does not ensure all training reviewed covers the

specific needs of Company.  It is encouraged that any specific material exclusive to Company’s workplace be

reviewed and handled by Company at Company’s site. Should any specific material not be covered by HLSG and

is required by Company, HLSG will use commercially reasonable efforts to add it to HLSG training at

Company’s request.

6. HLSG screens all Employees assigned to work at or for the Company. Such screening shall, at a minimum,

include the work status of Employee and a criminal background check. Only Employees that have a legal

status to work in the United States shall be assigned to work at the Company.

7. The billing rates for the Services are based on Company meeting agreed upon payment terms.  The Company shall pay

all invoices pursuant to Illinois’ Local Government Prompt Payment Act,  50 ILCS 505/1 et seq.

8. Client agrees to pay for the Services provided based upon the bill rate set forth in Section 9 below.

HLSG’s rate includes: Worker's Comp Insurance, F.I.C.A. Medicare, Unemployment, Insurance, recruiting,

administration, payroll funding and liability insurance.

9. Company will be invoiced ACA Tax as a separate line item at 0.15 cents per billable hour on a weekly basis.

The bill rate for each Employee providing Services hereunder is as follows 

Billing Hourly Rates: Straight-time Mark-up $33.00   O v e r t i m e  Mark-up _$42.90See Exhibit A 

(Scope of Work)

RESOLUTION EXHIBIT B



 
 

 

10. The initial term of the agreement shall be five (5) years commencing on the Effective Date (the “Initial Term”).  This 

Agreement shall automatically renew for two (2) additional one (1) year periods (unless earlier terminated as set forth herein), unless 

either Party gives the other Party written notice of its intent to terminate this Agreement at least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration 

of the Initial Term or any renewal term of this Agreement.  Either Party may terminate this Agreement immediately upon notice to the 

other Party in the event of a default in the performance of the other Party's obligations under this Agreement, provided such default 

continues for more than sixty (60) days after written notice of default by the non-defaulting Party. In addition, either party may 

immediately terminate this Agreement upon written notice to the other Party in the event the other Party commences a voluntary or 

involuntary proceeding under any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, dissolution, or similar law or appoints a trustee, 

custodian, sequestrator, liquidator, receiver, or similar official with respect to a substantial portion of such party's property or assets or 

makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors.  In addition, if no funds or insufficient funds are appropriated in any fiscal 

period of the Company for payments to be made under this Agreement, then the Company will notify HLSG in writing of that 

occurrence, and this Agreement will terminate on the earlier of the last day of the fiscal period for which sufficient appropriation was 

made or whenever the funds appropriated for payment under this Agreement are exhausted.  Payment for services completed to the 

date of notification will be made to HLSG except that no payments will be made or due to HLSG under this Agreement beyond those 

amounts appropriated and budgeted by the Company to fund payments under this Agreement.   

 

11. Company agrees that during the term of this Agreement and for a period of one (1) year from the date of expiration or termination of 

this Agreement for any reason, neither Company nor its affiliates will directly or indirectly solicit for employment or employ any 

person employed by HLSG or its affiliates who provided Services to Company or its affiliates during the term of this Agreement 

without obtaining HLSG's prior written consent. 

 

12. The primary contact of the Company will ensure that all key decision makers of the Company actively participate in HLSG quality 

program. This entails the completion of HLSG "Key Client Needs" and scheduled quality surveys. Failure to comply with this 

requirement may result in HLSG adjustment of Company mark ups. 

 

13. The undersigned party signing on behalf of the Company stands behind the financial stability of Company and is duly authorized to 

enter into this Linen Distribution Services Agreement on behalf of Company. 

 

14. This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Illinois and may only be enforced in       

the applicable state and federal courts of the State of Illinois. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Linen Distribution Services Agreement on the day and year first 

above written. 



 
 
 

Company:  County of Winnebago, Illinois d/b/a River Bluff Nursing Home 

By:     

Name:     

Title:     
 

 

HLSG: Superior Health Linens, LLC 

By:     

Name:     

Title:     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBT A 



 
 

Linen Distribution Services Scope of Work 

 

Superior through its on-site employees shall perform for Customer its on-site clean linen distribution requirements. 

Services to include: Ordering of all clean linen products, make up exchange carts for all clean linen, distribution of all clean 

linen throughout hospital, track usage of linen through audits done on returned exchange carts and scrub distribution audits. 

 

Scope of Work: 

 

Linen Distribution Hr./Rate:  

• $33.00 (subject to adjustment as set forth below) 

 

Overtime Hr./Rate: 

• $42.90 (overtime must be approved by the client prior to employees performing the overtime work.) 

 

Daily Coverage:  

• Sunday thru Saturday (7 days) 

 

Linen Distribution Buildings:   

• River Bluff Nursing Home 

 

Linen Room Hours of Operations and Coverage: 

• Sunday thru Saturday:   

• Linen Room Hours of Operation: TBD 

 

Required Employees/Staffing:   

• 2 FTE(s) (includes a working Supervisor)  

• FTE contracted hours = 80 hours per week 

• Overtime will be assessed if the weekday and weekend hours surpass 80 hours in total.  

• On the anniversary date of the Agreement, the hourly linen distribution rate will be increased by 2.5 - 3% for a 

Cost-of-Living increase. 

 

Clean Delivery /Soil Pick up:  

• Clean and Soiled delivery  

 

 

 

 



 
 

   
    Resolution Executive Summary 

 

  

Prepared By:    Purchasing Department  

Committee:    Operations and Administrative Committee 

Committee Date:     July 6, 2023 

Board Meeting Date:   July 13, 2023  

Resolution Title:           Resolution Awarding Printing Services Bid  
 

Was item budgeted?  Yes                                            Appropriation Amount:   N/A 

If not, explain funding source:   

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:                                               Descriptor:  
Each department use their own funds                                                                                                                        

 
 

Background Information:  In 2018, the County issued Invitation for Bid #18P-2124 Printing 
Services for a multi-year services contract that included the City of Rockford and the Rockford 
Public Library.  There were five bidders with two vendors, Balsley Printing and Meridian, being 
awarded the contract.  The County again went out for Bid #23B-2286 Printing Services, jointly 
with the City of Rockford, in May of this year. 
 

There was a total of three bid submissions received, 11th Street Printing, Balsley Printing and 
Meridian. All three vendors came in with the lowest pricing on some items compared to the 
others, see Bid Tab, Resolution Exhibit A, for more details.  It has proven to be very beneficial to 
the County to have contracts with more than one vendor for printing services, due to the wide 
variety of printing required.  Therefore, Purchasing prefers to award to multiple vendors.  The 
City also agrees with a three-way award.  
 

Recommendation:  It is recommended that the County awards Bid #23B-2286 Printing Services 
to 11th Street Printing, Balsley Printing and Meridian for a two-year contract with three one-year 
renewal options. 
 
Follow-Up:   The Purchasing Department will work with County departments to provide 
information and pricing, for all three vendors, to utilize off of the new contract. 



County Board Meeting:  July 13, 2023 
 

 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Keith McDonald, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:   Operations and Administrative Committee 
   

2023 CR 
 

RESOLUTION AWARDING PRINTING SERVICES BID 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances for the County of Winnebago, Illinois, provides as in 
Section 2-357 (b) (1), Conditions for use.  All procurements whose value equals or exceeds the 
competitive bidding threshold of $25,000.00 shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding in 
accordance with this section except as otherwise provided in 2-357(c) (Request for Proposals), 2-
357(d) (Professional Services), 2-357(e) (Sole-Source), 2-357(f) (Emergency Procurements), 2-357 
(g) (Cooperative Joint Purchasing) or as provided by State statute; and, 

 

         WHEREAS, all County of Winnebago departments and offices need printing services; 
and, 

 

         WHEREAS, the County participated in joint solicitation, Bid #23B-2286 Printing Services, 
with the City of Rockford; and, 

 

           WHEREAS, the Operations and Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed the Bids received for the aforementioned project and 
recommends awarding the contract as follows:  

 
11TH STREET EXPRESS PRINTING        BALSLEY PRINTING                    MERIDIAN 
2135 11TH STREET                               119 EAST MAIN STREET             4805 INTERSTATE BLVD. 
ROCKFORD, ILLINOIS 61104              ROCKTON, ILLINOIS 61072        LOVES PARK, ILLINOIS 61111 

 

(See Bid Tab, Resolution Exhibit A) 
 

 

 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois that the County Director of Purchasing is authorized to award a two (2) year contract, with 
three (3) one (1) year optional renewal periods, on behalf of the County of Winnebago, with 11TH 
STREET EXPRESS PRINTING, 2135 11TH STREET, ROCKFORD, ILLINOIS 61104, BALSLEY PRINTING, 
119 EAST MAIN STREET, ROCKTON, ILLINOIS 61072 AND MERIDIAN, 4805 INTERSTATE BLVD., 
LOVES PARK, ILLINOIS 61111. 
 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective 
immediately upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to prepare 
and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Director of Purchasing, Board Office, 
Finance Director and County Auditor. 



 
             Respectfully Submitted, 

                        OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 
 

                            VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 

PAUL ARENA 
 
 

                                                                             PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

                                                                         JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                          JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

JAIME SALGADO       JAIME SALGADO 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2023. 

 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIR OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



PRINTING SERVICES IFB #23B-2286- BID TAB

BID OPENING MAY 25, 2023- 1:00 P.M.

VENDORS

BALSLEY 

PRINTING, INC. MERIDIAN

11TH STREET 

PRINTING 

1 Business Cards  250 $30.00 $125.00 $72.00

1 Business Cards  500 $40.00 $130.00 $78.00

1 Business Cards 1,000 $50.00 $144.00 $98.00

2 Letterhead  500 $102.00 $259.00 $106.00

2 Letterhead  1,000 $170.00 $304.00 $137.00

2 Letterhead 2,500 $375.00 $436.00 $243.00

2 Letterhead 5,000 $495.00 $590.00 $435.00

3 Note Cards Folded w/Envelopes  1,000 $390.00 $644.00 $505.00

4 Small Note Cards 3x5 1,000 $105.00 $111.00 $62.00

5 #10 Envelope 500 $185.00 $125.00 $195.00

5 #10 Envelope  1,000 $350.00 $185.00 $265.00

5 #10 Envelope 2,500 $585.00 $350.00 $494.00

5 #10 Envelope  5,000 $895.00 $680.00 $845.00

6 #10 Window Envelope 500 $198.00 $130.00 $98.00

6 #10 Window Envelope  1,000 $365.00 $192.00 $123.00

6 #10 Window Envelope 2,500 $595.00 $360.00 $230.00

6 #10 Window Envelope  5,000 $915.00 $700.00 $378.00

7 10 x 13 Manilla Envelope 2,500 $625.00 $412.00 $513.00

City of Rockford

Page 1  

RESOLUTION EXHIBIT A



PRINTING SERVICES IFB #23B-2286- BID TAB

BID OPENING MAY 25, 2023- 1:00 P.M.

1 Business Cards (1/1)  250 $25.00 $34.00 $22.00

1 Business Cards (1/1)  500 $38.00 $39.00 $29.00

1 Business Cards (1/1) 1,000 $46.00 $46.00 $34.50

1 Business Cards (1/1) 2,500 $80.00 $90.00 $67.00

2 Business Cards- 4 Plus Colors 250 $30.00 $50.00 $29.00

2 Business Cards- 4 Plus Colors 500 $40.00 $58.00 $38.00

2 Business Cards- 4 Plus Colors 1,000 $50.00 $70.00 $45.00

2 Business Cards- 4 Plus Colors 2,500 $90.00 $130.00 $79.00

3 #10 Envelopes  250 $43.00 $46.00 $47.00

3 #10 Envelopes  500 $60.00 $59.00 $60.00

3 #10 Envelopes  1,000 $88.00 $77.00 $88.00

3 #10 Envelopes  2,500 $175.00 $130.00 $160.00

3 #10 Envelopes  5,000 $305.00 $200.00 $274.00

4 #10 Window Envelopes  250 $48.00 $50.00 $49.00

4 #10 Window Envelopes  500 $62.00 $62.00 $63.00

4 #10 Window Envelopes  1,000 $95.00 $81.00 $93.00

4 #10 Window Envelopes  2,500 $185.00 $138.00 $170.00

4 #10 Window Envelopes  5,000 $325.00 $216.00 $298.00

5 6 x 9 Envelopes  250 $60.00 $69.00 $62.00

5 6 x 9 Envelopes  500 $85.00 $98.00 $87.00

County of Winnebago

Page 2       



PRINTING SERVICES IFB #23B-2286- BID TAB

BID OPENING MAY 25, 2023- 1:00 P.M.

5 6 x 9 Envelopes  1,000 $135.00 $140.00 $129.00

5 6 x 9 Envelopes  2,500 $285.00 $244.00 $259.00

5 6 x 9 Envelopes  5,000 $515.00 $400.00 $465.00

6 9 x 12 Envelopes  250 $100.00 $75.00 $73.00

6 9 x 12 Envelopes  500 $148.00 $109.00 $110.00

6 9 x 12 Envelopes  1,000 $225.00 $144.00 $180.00

6 9 x 12 Envelopes  2,500 $475.00 $296.00 $385.00

6 9 x 12 Envelopes  5,000 $830.00 $500.00 $701.00

7 #6 3/4 Envelopes  500 $64.00 $80.00 $74.00

7 #6 3/4 Envelopes  1,000 $95.00 $94.00 $108.00

8 Monarch 3.875 x 7.5 Envelopes  1,000 $95.00 $82.00 $109.00

8 Monarch 3.875 x 7.5 Envelopes  2,500 $200.00 $164.00 $199.00

8 Monarch 3.875 x 7.5 Envelopes  5,000 $335.00 $264.00 $353.00

9 #9 Envelopes  500 $60.00 $62.00 $60.00

9 #9 Envelopes  1,000 $90.00 $78.00 $89.00

9 #9 Envelopes  2,500 $175.00 $130.00 $163.00

9 #9 Envelopes  5,000 $305.00 $200.00 $279.00

10 #9 Window Envelopes  500 $64.00 $68.00 $65.00

10 #9 Window Envelopes  1,000 $98.00 $86.00 $98.00

10 #9 Window Envelopes  2,500 $195.00 $148.00 $180.00

10 #9 Window Envelopes  5,000 $345.00 $252.00 $318.00

Page 3       



PRINTING SERVICES IFB #23B-2286- BID TAB

BID OPENING MAY 25, 2023- 1:00 P.M.

11 11 x 17 Poster 1/0  500 $45.00 $92.00 $73.00

11 11 x 17 Poster 1/0  1,000 $88.00 $125.00 $123.00

11 11 x 17 Poster 1/0  2,500 $175.00 $266.00 $295.00

11 11 x 17 Poster 1/0  5,000 $325.00 $440.00 $538.00

12 11 x 17 Poster 4/0  500 $145.00 $142.00 $138.00

12 11 x 17 Poster 4/0  1,000 $265.00 $247.00 $205.00

12 11 x 17 Poster 4/0  2,500 $355.00 $549.00 $375.00

12 11 x 17 Poster 4/0  5,000 $515.00 $890.00 $620.00

13 11 x 17 Folder  500 $212.00 $160.00 $115.00

13 11 x 17 Folder  1,000 $240.00 $238.00 $208.00

13 11 x 17 Folder  2,500 $415.00 $462.00 $474.00

14 Continuous Feed Postcard  1,000 N/A $295.00 $500.00

14 Continuous Feed Postcard  2,500 N/A $395.00 $555.00

14 Continuous Feed Postcard  5,000 N/A $480.00 $681.00

15 Flier 500 $160.00 $198.00 $119.00

15 Flier 1,000 $185.00 $246.00 $189.00

16 Flier w/Bleeds  250 $60.00 $212.00 $47.00

16 Flier w/Bleeds  500 $90.00 $236.00 $75.00

16 Flier w/Bleeds  1,000 $155.00 $278.00 $130.00

17 Door Hanger 11x4 1/2 1,000 $135.00 $149.00 $118.00

17 Door Hanger 11x4 1/2 2,500 $210.00 $292.00 $212.00

Page 4       



PRINTING SERVICES IFB #23B-2286- BID TAB

BID OPENING MAY 25, 2023- 1:00 P.M.

17 Door Hanger 11x4 1/2 5,000 $345.00 $516.00 $371.00

18 Door Hanger 8 1/2x 4 3/4  250 $75.00 $68.00 $66.00

18 Door Hanger 8 1/2x 4 3/4  500 $110.00 $87.00 $84.00

18 Door Hanger 8 1/2x 4 3/4  1,000 $140.00 $125.00 $110.00

19 Sticker 8 1/2 x 11  250 $90.00 $126.00 N/A

19 Sticker 8 1/2 x 11  500 $170.00 $230.00 N/A

19 Sticker 8 1/2 x 11  1,000 $215.00 $380.00 N/A

20 Sticker 7 1/2 x 3 3/4  250 $100.00 $126.00 $86.00

20 Sticker 7 1/2 x 3 3/4  500 $160.00 $162.00 $147.00

20 Sticker 7 1/2 x 3 3/4  1,000 $300.00 $237.00 $242.00

21 Sticker 5 1/2 x 4 1/4  250 $55.00 $64.00 $18.00

21 Sticker 5 1/2 x 4 1/4  500 $75.00 $105.00 $32.00

21 Sticker 5 1/2 x 4 1/4  1,000 $110.00 $171.00 $60.00

22 Sticker 2 1/4 x 4  250 $42.00 $44.00 $33.00

22 Sticker 2 1/4 x 4  500 $50.00 $59.00 $50.00

22 Sticker 2 1/4 x 4  1,000 $62.00 $89.00 $82.00

23 Letterhead 1/0  250 $52.00 $86.00 $47.00

23 Letterhead 1/0  500 $64.00 $96.00 $65.00

23 Letterhead 1/0  1,000 $80.00 $114.00 $90.00

23 Letterhead 1/0  2,500 $140.00 $166.00 $164.00

23 Letterhead 1/0  5,000 $215.00 $243.00 $280.00

Page 5  



PRINTING SERVICES IFB #23B-2286- BID TAB

BID OPENING MAY 25, 2023- 1:00 P.M.

24 Letterhead 2/0  250 $62.00 $141.00 $98.00

24 Letterhead 2/0  500 $81.00 $153.00 $123.00

24 Letterhead 2/0  1,000 $170.00 $174.00 $145.00

24 Letterhead 2/0  2,500 $210.00 $237.00 $225.00

24 Letterhead 2/0  5,000 $270.00 $324.00 $353.00

1 2 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  250 $65.00 $82.00 $60.00

1 2 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  500 $105.00 $112.00 $100.00

1 2 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  1,000 $200.00 $170.00 $171.00

1 2 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  2,500 $350.00 $334.00 $381.00

1 2 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  5,000 $595.00 $536.00 $563.00

2 2 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  250 $90.00 $101.00 $73.00

2 2 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  500 $172.00 $138.00 $124.00

2 2 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  1,000 $220.00 $205.00 $215.00

2 2 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  2,500 $425.00 $396.00 $485.00

2 2 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  5,000 $685.00 $630.00 $628.00

3 2 Part  8 1/2 x 14 1/0  250 $88.00 $114.00 $70.00

3 2 Part  8 1/2 x 14 1/0  500 $142.00 $171.00 $125.00

4 2 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0  250 $40.00 $68.00 $38.00

4 2 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0  500 $64.00 $83.00 $60.00

4 2 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0  1,000 $115.00 $116.00 $93.00

County of Winnebago Multipart Forms

Page 6  



PRINTING SERVICES IFB #23B-2286- BID TAB

BID OPENING MAY 25, 2023- 1:00 P.M.

4 2 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0  2,500 $220.00 $207.00 $204.00

4 2 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0  5,000 $360.00 $350.00 $389.00

5 2 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0 w/Numbering  250 $58.00 $86.00 $53.00

5 2 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0 w/Numbering  500 $75.00 $107.00 $83.00

5 2 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0 w/Numbering  1,000 $140.00 $152.00 $113.00

6
2 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 w/1/0 and 1/1 and Snap-out  

250
N/A $340.00 $186.00

6
2 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 w/1/0 and 1/1 and Snap-out  

500
N/A $340.00 $215.00

6
2 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 w/1/0 and 1/1 and Snap-out  

1,000
$360.00 $340.00 $240.00

6
2 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 w/1/0 and 1/1 and Snap-out  

2,500
$488.00 $425.00 $335.00

7 3 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  1,000 $230.00 $250.00 $255.00

7 3 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  2,500 $440.00 $470.00 $530.00

7 3 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  5,000 $810.00 $860.00 $775.00

8 3 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  250 $120.00 $126.00 $86.00

8 3 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  500 $185.00 $184.00 $159.00

8 3 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  1,000 $300.00 $295.00 $320.00

9 3 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0  250 $48.00 $80.00 $52.00

9 3 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0  500 $72.00 $106.00 $83.00

9 3 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0  1,000 $138.00 $158.00 $162.00

9 3 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0  2,500 $265.00 $311.00 $349.00

9 3 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0  5,000 $470.00 $547.00 $648.00

10 3 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0 w/Numbering  250 $65.00 $114.00 $57.00

Page 7  



PRINTING SERVICES IFB #23B-2286- BID TAB

BID OPENING MAY 25, 2023- 1:00 P.M.

10 3 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0 w/Numbering 500 $80.00 $131.00 $91.00

10 3 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0 w/Numbering 1,000 $162.00 $195.00 $152.00

11 3 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0 w/Snap-out  1,000 $215.00 $322.00 $360.00

11 3 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0 w/Snap-out  2,500 $405.00 $438.00 $434.00

11 3 Part 8 1/2 x 5 1/2 1/0 w/Snap-out  5,000 $670.00 $635.00 $628.00

12 3 Part 8 1/2 x 7 1/0 w/Numbering  250 $85.00 $173.00 $67.00

12 3 Part 8 1/2 x 7 1/0 w/Numbering  500 $135.00 $188.00 $109.00

12 3 Part 8 1/2 x 7 1/0 w/Numbering  1,000 $200.00 $302.00 $186.00

13 4 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  1,000 $285.00 $266.00 $315.00

13 4 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  2,500 $588.00 $490.00 $657.00

13 4 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  5,000 $1,050.00 $910.00 $988.00

14 4 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  500 $215.00 $193.00 $235.00

14 4 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  1,000 $365.00 $311.00 $395.00

14 4 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  2,500 $695.00 $646.00 $731.00

14 4 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  5,000 $1,235.00 $1,178.00 $1,053.00

15 5 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  1,000 N/A $285.00 $533.00

15 5 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  2,500 N/A $604.00 $797.00

15 5 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  5,000 N/A $1,094.00 $1,205.00

16 5 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  250 N/A $136.00 $153.00

16 5 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  500 N/A $202.00 $281.00

16 5 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  1,000 N/A $329.00 $617.00

Page 8       



PRINTING SERVICES IFB #23B-2286- BID TAB

BID OPENING MAY 25, 2023- 1:00 P.M.

16 5 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  2,500 N/A $689.00 $862.00

16 5 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  5,000 N/A $1,258.00 $1,270.00

17 6 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  250 N/A $170.00 $329.00

17 6 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  500 N/A $281.00 $522.00

17 6 Part  8 1/2 x 11 1/0  1,000 N/A $487.00 $632.00

18 6 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  250 N/A $215.00 $385.00

18 6 Part 8 1/2 x 11 1/1  500 N/A $349.00 $575.00

Turnaround Time:
Standard turnaround is 

5/7 Days

5-7 work days or as 

required

Varies from 2 days to 2 

weeks

File Transfer Methods:
Print ready may be 

emailed, sent via online 

transfer or uploaded at 

www.balsleyprinting.com
Email, FTP Site, Thumb 

Drive Email/FTP on Email

Page 9  



    Resolution Executive Summary 

Prepared By:  Lafakeria Vaughn 
Committee:  Operations and Administrative Committee 
Committee Date: July 6, 2023 
Resolution Title:   Resolution Authorizing the Execution of an Attornment Agreement 

between Blackhawk Bank and the County of Winnebago, Illinois for 
the property located at 4505 North Main Street, Rockford, IL 

County Code:      Not Applicable 
Board Meeting Date: July 13, 2023 

Budget Information 
Budgeted? NO   Amount Budgeted?   
If not, originally budgeted, explain the funding source?   N/A  
If ARPA or CIP funded, original amount requested?   N/A   
Actual Amount?  N/A 
Over or Under approved amount? N/A    By: N/A 
If ARPA funded, was it approved by Baker Tilly?  N/A 
ORG/OBJ/Project Codes: N/A  Descriptor: N/A 

Background Information: The County of Winnebago, Illinois (County) owns the land for the 
property commonly known as 4505 North Main Street, Rockford, Illinois and Stepping Stones of 
Rockford, Inc. (Stepping Stones) currently owns the building on said land. The County and Stepping 
Stones (River North of Rockford) have an existing 20-year lease. Stepping Stones will be borrowing 
additional funds from Blackhawk Bank for improvements to the building and has requested the 
execution of a new attornment agreement between Blackhawk Bank and the County. The first 
attornment agreement was entered into on October 16, 2018.  

Recommendation: Staff concurs 

Contract/Agreement: Attornment Agreement 

Legal Review:  Legal review conducted by State’s Attorney’s Office 

Follow-Up: Execution of Attornment Agreement  



RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

2023 CR _______ 

SUBMITTED BY:  OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

SPONSORED BY: KEITH MCDONALD  

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF AN ATTORNMENT 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN BLACKHAWK BANK AND THE COUNTY OF 

WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 4505 NORTH MAIN 
STREET, ROCKFORD, IL 

WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago, Illinois (County) owns the land for the property 
commonly known as 4505 North Main Street, Rockford, Illinois and Stepping Stones of 
Rockford, Inc. (Stepping Stones) currently owns the building on said land; and 

WHEREAS, the County and the Rockford Housing Development Corporation entered 
into a 20-year lease agreement on June 16, 2000, which was amended on June 1, 2005 and 
subsequently assigned to Stepping Stones of Rockford, Inc. (Stepping Stones) on March 16, 
2018; and 

WHEREAS, the lease automatically renewed for a new 20-year term on June 16, 2020 
and terminates on June 15, 2040; and 

WHEREAS, Stepping Stones will be borrowing additional funds from Blackhawk Bank 
for improvements to the building and has requested the execution of a new attornment agreement 
between Blackhawk Bank and the County, attached hereto as Exhibit A.  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois, that the Winnebago County Board Chairman, is authorized and directed to, on behalf of 
the County of Winnebago, Illinois to execute the Attornment Agreement by and between 
Blackhawk Bank and the County of Winnebago, and in substantially the same form as that set 
forth in Exhibit A. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Resolution shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its adoption. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board shall prepare and 
deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Winnebago County Auditor, County 
Administrator and to Attorney Sherry L. Harlan, Hinshaw & Culbertson, LLP, 100 Park Avenue, 
P.O. Box 1389, Rockford, IL 61101. 

COUNTY BOARD MEETING: JULY 13, 2023 



Respectfully Submitted, 
OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

Agree Disagree 

Keith McDonald, Chairman Keith McDonald, Chairman 

Valerie Hanserd Valerie Hanserd 

Paul Arena Paul Arena 

John Butitta John Butitta 

Joe Hoffman Joe Hoffman 

Jaime Salgado Jaime Salgado 

Michael Thompson Michael Thompson 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this day of 2023. 

ATTESTED BY: 

Joseph V. Chiarelli 
Chairman of the County Board 
of the County of Winnebago, Illinois 

Lori Gummow 
Clerk of the County Board  
of the County of Winnebago, Illinois 



302566264v1 1013571 

ATTORNMENT AGREEMENT 

This Agreement dated this _____ day of __________, 2023, by and between 

BLACKHAWK BANK, with its principal place of business at 2475 N. Perryville Road, Rockford, 

IL 61107 (“Lender”") and the County of Winnebago, an Illinois Body Politic and Corporate 

(“Landlord”). 

WHEREAS, Landlord has entered into that certain lease agreement dated June 16, 2000, 

which was amended on June 1, 2005 (“Lease”); and 

WHEREAS, the Lease was assigned to Stepping Stones of Rockford, Inc., an Illinois Not- 

for-Profit Corporation (“Tenant”) on March 1 6, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, the Lease is for the property commonly known as 4505 North Main Street, 

Rockford, IL (“Premises”); and 

WHEREAS, Landlord represents that the Lease is valid, in full force and effect, and that 

Tenant is not in default with respect to the terms of the Lease; and 

WHEREAS, Tenant desires to borrow certain a d d i t i o n a l  sums from Lender under 

the terms of a promissory note for the purpose of improving the property and which will be secured 

by, among other things, a construction mortgage (“Leasehold Mortgage”) with respect to Tenant’s 

leasehold interest in the Lease of the Premises; and 

EXHIBIT A



2 
302566264v1 1013571 

WHEREAS, Lender desires to be assured of the continued ability to use and occupy the 

Premises under the terms of the Lease in the event of a default by the Tenant under its loan with 

Lender. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the other mutually beneficial 

covenants contained herein the parties agree as follows: 

1. The foregoing recital paragraphs are expressly incorporated herein and are agreed 

to by the parties. 

2. Landlord agrees that in the event any proceedings are brought to foreclose the 

Leasehold Mortgage in favor of Lender, or any other party is a successor tenant as a result of a 

breach by Tenant of the loan with Lender, that Landlord will attorn to the purchaser of such 

foreclosure sale and recognize such purchaser, or other successor tenant, as the Tenant under the 

Lease. Said purchaser by virtue of such foreclosure to be deemed to have assumed and agreed to 

be bound, as substitute Tenant, by the terms and conditions of the Lease except that such 

assumption by purchaser shall not be deemed of itself to be an acknowledgement of such purchaser 

of the validity of any then existing claims of Landlord against any prior Tenant.  Landlord agrees 

to execute and deliver to such purchaser such further assurances and other documents confirming 

the foregoing as such purchaser may reasonably request.  Landlord waives the provisions of any 

statute or rule of law now or hereinafter in affect which may give or purport to give Landlord any 

right or election to terminate or otherwise adversely affect Lease and the obligations of Landlord 

thereunder by reason of such foreclosure proceeding. 

3. The provisions in this Agreement are binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of 

the heirs, successors, and assigns of the parties hereto. 

4. All communication with Landlord pursuant to the Lease shall be to Patrick J. 

Thompson, County Administrator for the County of Winnebago. 



3 
302566264v1 1013571 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed these presents the day and year 

first written above. 

BLACKHAWK BANK 

By:             
Greg Lundquist 
Its:  VP Business Banking 

COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO 

By:            
Joseph V. Chiarelli 
Its:  Chairman of the Board 

STATE OF ILLINOIS  ) 
     )SS. 
COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO ) 

I, the undersigned, a Notary Public, in and for said County and State aforesaid, DO 
HEREBY CERTIFY THAT BLACKHAWK BANK, by Greg Lundquist, personally known to me 
to be  is VP or Business Banking of BLACKHAWK BANK, who is the Lender, and who is 
personally known to me to be the same person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing 
instrument, as having executed the same, appeared before me this day in person and acknowledged 
that he/she signed, sealed and delivered the said instrument as his/her free and voluntary act for 
the purposes therein set forth, including the release and waiver of the right of homestead. 

Given under my hand and Notarial Seal this _____ day of __________, 2023. 

____________________________________ 
NOTARY PUBLIC 

STATE OF ILLINOIS  ) 
     )SS. 
COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO ) 

I, the undersigned, a Notary Public, in and for said County and State aforesaid, DO 
HEREBY CERTIFY THAT COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, by JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI, 
personally known to me to be the County Board Chairman of the County of Winnebago, an Illinois 
Body Politic and Corporate, who is the Landlord, and who is personally known to me to be the 
same person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument, as having executed the same, 
appeared before me this day in person and acknowledged that she signed, sealed and delivered the 
said instrument as her free and voluntary act for the purposes therein set forth, including the release 
and waiver of the right of homestead. 

Given under my hand and Notarial Seal this _____ day of __________, 2023. 

____________________________________ 
NOTARY PUBLIC 

Prepared By and Return To: 
Attorney Sherry L. Harlan 
Hinshaw & Culbertson LLP 
100 Park Avenue 
P.O. Box 1389 
Rockford, IL 61105 
815-490-4934 



















































































 

UNFINISHED 
BUSINESS 



 

  
Appointments 

 
 



 

NEW BUSINESS 



 

ANNOUNCEMENTS & 
COMMUNICATIONS 



 

County Clerk  |  404 Elm St, Rm 104, Rockford, IL 61101  |  www.wincoil.us 
Phone: (815) 319-4250  |  Fax: (815) 969-0259  |  Email: CountyClerk@wincoil.us 

 

 
Announcements & Communications 
Date: July 13, 2023 
Item: Correspondence to the Board 
Prepared by: County Clerk Lori Gummow 
 

Governing Statute(s):  State of Illinois Counties Code 55 ILCS 5/Div. 3-2, Clerk 
 
County Code: Ch 2. Art. II. Div. 4, Sec. 2.86 – Record Keeping & Communications 
 
Background: The items listed below were received as correspondence.  
 

1. County Clerk Gummow received from the United States Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission the following: 
 
a. Summary of the June 1, 2023, Public Outreach to Discuss the NRC 2022 End-Of-

Cycle Plant Performance Assessment of Braidwood Station, Units 1 and 2; Byron 
Station, Units 1 and 2. 
 

b. Byron Station - Notification of NRC Fire Protection Team Inspection Request for 
Information. 
 

c. Reassignment of the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Branch Chief in the 
Division of Operating Reactor Licensing for Plant Licensing Branch III. 
 

2. County Clerk Gummow received from Theresa Grennan, Chief Deputy Winnebago 
County Treasurer the following: 

 
a. Winnebago County Treasurer Bank Balances – May, 2023 
b. Collateralization Report – May   31, 2023 
c. Investment Report -  as of May 31, 2023 

 
 

http://www.wincoil.us/
mailto:CountyClerk@wincoil.us
http://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs4.asp?DocName=005500050HDiv%2E+3-2&ActID=750&ChapterID=12&SeqStart=14400000&SeqEnd=16300000
http://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs4.asp?DocName=005500050HDiv%2E+3-2&ActID=750&ChapterID=12&SeqStart=14400000&SeqEnd=16300000
https://library.municode.com/il/winnebago_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COCO_CH2AD_ARTIICOBO_DIV4RUPR_S2-86RECO
https://library.municode.com/il/winnebago_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COCO_CH2AD_ARTIICOBO_DIV4RUPR_S2-86RECO


 

Adjournment 


	Revised Agenda
	Awards, Presentations, Public Hearings and Public Participation
	Approval of Minutes
	Consent Agenda
	Appointments
	Reports of Standing Committees
	Finance Committee
	Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for a Circuit Clerk Project Manager
	Resolution Authorizing an Increase in the Salary of the Winnebago
County Public Defender
	Resolution Authorizing Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company
as Winnebago County’s 457(B) Deferred Compensation Plan Record Keeper
	Ordinance for Approval of a Budget Amendment to Change the County 
457(b) Plan Vendor 
	Resolution Authorizing Use of Winnebago County Health Department Surplus Funds to Pay Off the Bond on 555 N. Court Street
	Ordinance Providing for Payment of Certain Outstanding Bonds of the County
	Ordinance for Approval of a Budget Amendment to Reimburse the General Fund
for 555 Court Street Bond Payments
	Operations & Administrative Committee
	Resolution Awarding Therapy Services at River Bluff Nursing Home
	Resolution to Approve New Laundry and Linen Services at River Bluff Nursing
	Resolution Awarding Printing Services Bid
	Resolution Authorizing the Execution of an Attornment Agreement
between Blackhawk Bank and the County of Winnebago, Illinois for
the property located at 4505 North Main Street, Rockford, IL
	Unfinished Business
	Appointments
	New Business
	Announcements & Communications
	Adjournment



